MINUTES
SPECIAL COUNCIL MEETING
MARCH 16, 2022

The City of Millbrook held a Special Council Meeting at 6:00 p.m., Wednesday, March 16,
2022, in the City Council Meeting Room,

CALL TO ORDER Council President Gay called the meeting to order.

ROLL CALL President Gay requested the roll be called. Present were Council President Gay,
Councilmembers Harris, Jones, Hodge, and Thomas. Absent: none. Also present were
Department Heads Gina Williams, Tammy Pugh, City Attorney Kelly Lee, and City Clerk Lori
Davis.

APPROVAL OF AGENDA Councilmember Hodge moved to approve the Agenda. The motion
was seconded by Councilmember Jones and passed unanimously,

POST-DISCIPLINARY HEARING See court report attached hereto and made apart of the
minutes.

ADJOURNMENT There being no further business, Councilmember Harris moved to adjourn.
The motion was seconded by Councilmember Hodge and passed unanimously, The meeting
adjourned at 8:52 p.m.

Respectfully submitted,

Lori Davis

City Clerk

APPROVED:

Michael Gay
Council President

Minutes 3-16-22
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Page 1 Page 3
1 CITY OF MILLBROOK 1 EXAMINATION INDEX {Continued)
2 2 Reexaminatjon by Mr. Courtne 117
Reexamination by Mr. DeBardélaben 118

3 3 Further Examinafion by Mr. Courtney 164
. . Further Examination by Mr. DeBardélaben 166
AL KELLY
5 IN THE MATTER OF: 5 -~
Examination by Mr. Courtney 119
6 TAMMY PUGH &  Examination by Mr. DeBardélaben 139
Reexamination by Mr. Gourtney 152
7 7 Reexamination by Mr. DeBardélaben 158
Further Examinafion by Mr. Courtney 160
8 8 Further Examination by Mr, DeBardélaben 161
. o Further Examination by Mr. Courtney 163
10 10
11 ettt srenen 11 MR. GAY: Call the meeting to order.
1z 12 [f the clerk will please call the roll.
13 TESTIMONY AND PROCEEDINGS, taken before 13 THE CLERK: Council Members Thomas?
14 the City Council, and reported by Haley Tunnelt, 14 MS. THOMAS: Here.
15 Certified Court Reporter and Commissioner for 15 THE CLERK: Harris?
16 the State of Alabama at Large, at Millbrook 16 MR. HARRIS: Hers.
17 Municipal Court, 3900 Grandview Road, Millbrook, 17 THE CLERK: Jones?
18 Alabama, on March 16, 2022, at approximately 18 MR. JONES: Here,
1% 4:30 p.m. 19 THE CLERK: Hodge?
20 20 MR, HODGE; Here.
21 FEXEAEE I X 21 MR. GAY: Is there a motion on the
22 22 agenda?
23 23 MR. HODGE: Motion to approve,
Page 2 Page 4
1 APPEARANCES 1 MR. JONES: I'l second.

MR. GAY: Okay. Moticn and second.

2 FOR TAMMY PUGH:
3 All in favor say aye.

JIM DEBARDELABEN, Esquire
4354 U 8, H}ﬂhway 231
4 Wetumpka, Alabarma 36092

FOR THE CITY OF MILLBROOK:
JEFFREY COURTNEY. Esquire

5
6

COURTNEY & MANN, LLP
7 1881 Holtville Road
8
9

WMo

=

(Members in favor so indicated.)
MR. GAY: All opposed?

{No response)
MR. GAY: At this time, we're here

Wetumpka, Alabama 36092 - . .
to have a post-disciplinary hearing. | will

e O . T

KELLY LEE Esquire

, call th t-disciplinary hearing to ord d
CAWOFFICE OF KELLY LEE, LLC © post-disaipiinary 910 order an

10 164 West 5th Street 10 ask that all those present turn off or silence
Prativille, Alabama 360867 ) o )

11 11 your cell phones. This proceeding is being
CITY COUNCIL: .

iz 12 recorded and transcribed by a court reporter
Ms. Jacquelen Thomas. o

13 Mr. Jimmy Harris, 13 who is sitting to my left. Please speak up so
Mr. Michael Gay. o

14 Mr, Justin Jones. 14 that she can hear you when you are testifying.
Mr. Hal Hodge

15 15 Also, please know that the court reporter

16 HEEEE I A A A AL 16 cannot take down a shake of the head or all

17 EXAMINATION INDEX 17 your answers must be verbal. Also, please tiy

18 P.K. JOHNSON PAGE 18 to refrain from the use of uh-huh or such terms

19 Examination by Mr. Courtney 12 19 oridioms to avoid the possibility of any

Examination by Mr. DeBardélaben 30 L
20 Reexamination by Mr. Courtney 50 20 confusion in the record.
Reexamination by Mr. DeBardélahen 58 .

21 21 Are all the witnesses present?
LYNN BRIGHT ) .

22 22 The witnesses please raise your hand. Can you

Examination by M. Courtney 62 . .
23 Examination by Mr. DeBardeélaben 94 23 please stand. | ask that you raise your right

Cite, LLC
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Page & Page 7
1 hand and repeat after me. 1 is a--you'll see it. Of course, they sent
2 (Withesses swarn at this time.) 2 her a letter -- a pre-disciplinary hearing to
3 MR. GAY: Thank you. You may be 3 conduct your continued employment in Miltbrook.
4 seated. 4 She -- and they put this in a letter dated
5 At this time, we will listen to 5 February the 23rd. On that one they didn't
& opening statements. 6 state any reason. They stated some rules she
7 Jeff, the employer, do you have 7 supposedly violated; not how, when, where. [t
8 an opening statement? B was like, oh, there was a bank robbed. You
9 MR. GORDON: Very briefty. Thank 9 figure out when, what date, and how it was
10 you. 10 robbed but we're charging you with it. Make
11 Council, we are here today, as 11 your defense. That's what you get.
12 was mentioned, for a post-disciplinary hearing 12 Then there was another hearing on
13 pursuant to the March 1 Istter that was issued 13 March 1st when we requested it, and we got some
14 o Ms. Pugh Following her previous 14 reason given but not pricr to the hearing. You
15 pre-disciplinary proceeding that you had 15 go in the hearing to get reason given but not
16 several weeks ago. Just in short, the charges 16 prior to the hearing. That's fine. We had -
17 as they are or the reasons as they are set 17 excuse me, | messed up, Thatwas a
18 forth in that March 1 letter that was issued by 18 February 7th notice of a pre-disciplinary
19 the City to Ms. Pugh, and we wouid expect that 19 hearing. No reasons. Looking through her
20 the testimony today would support any actions 20 personnei file, and | have -- 1 look at the
21 that have been previously taken. 21 personnel files because if it's not in the
22 MR. GAY: Sir, | want to apologize. 22 personnel file and it's not written, it didn't
23 |'m going to do my best to pronounce your fast 23 happen. People can testify all they want.
Page 6 Page 8
1 name, and | apologize because | know 'm not 1 They want to talk about what she did. Well,
2 going to get it right. 2 looking at the personnel rules and regulations,
3 MR. DEBARDELABEN: That's okay, sir. 3 and | think it's Chapter 8, Section 9,
4 MR. GAY: Mr. Jim DeBardelaben; is 4 Disciplinary Acticns. One of them says, under
5 that correct? 5 D, you use all reasonable steps should take
6 MR. DEBARDELABEN: Yes, sir. & play prior to the final action of termination,
1 MR. GAY: You're the attorney for 7 and then they say you have informal discipline
8 Ms. Pugh. Do you have a statement, sir? 8 and verbal counseling, and it says at the end
9 MR. DEBARDELABEN: Yes, sir. A 9 of that paragraph the supervisor shall complete
10 ghort one. . 10 amemo that identified the date, time,
11 This lady has not received one 11 substance, and response to this meeting. We
12 punce of due process. | thank y'all for being 12 don't have any of those. Did it happen? Who
13 here, but it started before we got to you. She 13 knows. It's not -- they didn't follow the
14 has worked for this city as a circuit clerk for 14 rules. Okay.
15 20 years. No problem under Judge Pool. 15 Then, if they don't correct i,
16 Everything went good. Her annual evaluations 16 you look at Step 2. You get counseling and
17 showed no problems. | will introduce them. 17 written reprimands, and we don't have those.
18 All | have in her file was back to 2015, so all 18 The last one we have that | saw was dated in
19 | can give you is 2015. They might say, Oh, 19 February of 2019, | think. And after that, the
20 {hey were self-evaluations, but they were all 20 next evaluation period she got all good
21 approved by the mayor except 2021, and the 21 evaluations. Okay. it saysiftheydoa
22 mayor on one of them, and you will see, made a 22 counseling and they don't make any improvement,
23 change. So she gets -- on February 18th there 23 they shall meet about -- only about 30 days
Cite, LLC
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Page 9 Page 11
1 from this meeting informally and discussing 1 And then you'll see that the
2 process and [ack thereof. And, again, at the 2 police chief gets in to telling her what to do
3 end of the 60 calendar day when your supervisor 3 from time to time, sending her memos. When the
4 will inform the employee that no further action 4 police chief can tell you what the bonds are,
5 needed or that a written reprimand shall be 5 and you are supposed to be an independent court
6 issued. A copy will be forwarded to the human 6 gystem, are you independent anymore? Now, the
7 resaurce -- the director of human resources and 7 mayor has in his authority he can forgive a
& placed in the employee's personnel file. it's 8 fine, he can set aside a fine. He can do that.
9 notin there. But what we did is fire her. 9 He has to -- then if he does that, at the next
10 Okay. If it happened -- she's 19 meeting, he has to explain to y'all why he did
11 basically who the personne! policies with this 11 j{, but he has that authority, and y'all have
12 city -- a contract that -- okay, if you're 12 the authority to okay or not okay. But he
13 messing up, we're going to do certain -- you 13 doesn't - but | stiil can't tell you who this
14 follow certain procedures to tell you and you 14 fady's supervisor is, and you can fook all
15 gotarecord. Call you in a back room and 15 through the code books. You can look all
16 talking to you about it maybe if you don't do 16 through the rules and the only rule that says
17 what's in these rules, you haven't done your 17 anything about who she answers to or reporis to
18 job. You haven'ttold that employee. That 18 s the Alabama Rules of Judicial
19 amployee is entitled to get what they say in 12 Administration, Rule 4. So if y'all will
20 the City's personnel manual. Ladies and 20 listen to it, | think you'li find that, number
21 gentlemen, that's called due process. She 21 one, Ms. Pugh, pursuant to her annual reports,
22 hasn't gotten that. 22 had been doing a good job. If | get an annual
23 But the crux of the matter is 23 report that says I'm doing a good job and then
Page 10 Page 12
1 Judge Pool was here, | think, for approximately 1 four or five months laler you want to fire me
2 40 years. | might be a little wrong. He was 2 and there have been no written disciplinary
3 here since | have been practicing law, and { 3 procedures, there has been no write-ups, there
4 know that, and I'm getting old. And Judge 4 have bzen nothing placed in my file, where is
5 Bright comes in. She's used to a different 5 your due process? Thank you very much.
6 system, and this lady has been trained under 6 MR. GAY: Mr. Courtney, do you have
7 Judge Pool. It takes a while. Judge Bright is 7 witnesses that you would like to present, sir?
8 wanting things different. She wants the system 8 MR. COURTNEY: | do, sir. Thank
9 changed while they're still doing the work and 9 you.
10 {obe up to speed. That doesn't happen. It's 10 The first witness | call is Chief
11 just not going to happen. 11 P.K. Johnson, please.
12 And |'ve heard a lol of talk 12 P.i. JOHNSTON,
13 about, Weli, I've had meetings with her. Well, 13 the witness, having previously been
14 | don’t know who her supervisor is. Under the 14 sworn, testified as follows:
15 Alabama Cffice of Courts, it says she -- and 15 EXAMINATION
16 used the word -- answers to the judge. Now, if 16 BY MR. COURTNEY:
17 you answer to somebody, | would assume that 17 Q. Chief, would you introduce yourself. |
18 that's your supervisor. But the judge doesn'i 18 know they know you. You're the chief of police
19 do her annual reports, the mayor does. So | 19 in Millbrook?
20 don't -- 1 can't tell you who her supervisor is 20 A. Chief P.K. Johnson.
21 because she's supposed to answer to the 21 Q. Very good. How long have you been in that?
22 municipal judge but the mayor does her annual 22 A. | have been the chief since August of 2008,
23 reports. That's -- that's kind of mixed up. 23 Q. Okay. Very gcod. And during that time
Cite, LLC
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Page 13 Page 15
1 have you had interaction with the court 1 heings, we do. And when that was the case, [

2 department; specifically Ms. Tammy Pugh? 2 jnstructed the officers fo make whatever -- it

3 A, |have. 3 might be something as simple as another element
4 Q. Okay. Allright. And over that fong 4 of the crime needed to he inciuded in a

5 period of time, have you had an opporunity to 5 doeument, such as an offense report or something
6 form some opinions based on your experiences? ¢ like that, and those corrections were made. But

-~

7 A. Yes, sir.
8 Q. Okay. Allright. Pl ask you first about
9 something very simple, communication. Would yout

a lot of times she would try to try the case in

oo

her office, and [ have explained to her numerous

o

times on pro arrests that's not a magistrate's

10 describe for the council please the level and 10 role. A judge will hear the facts of the case
11 quality of communication that you have had with 11 and rule as to whether or not an arrest should
1z Ms. Pugh? 12 be made.
i3 MR. DEBARDELABEN: Your Hanor, who 13 Another example that | will give you:
14 do | address is running i{? : 14 Several times she would complain about officers
i5 MR. GAY: You can address me, sir. 15 not signing on complaints or signing or
16 MR. DEBARDELABEN: Thatwasn'tin 16 attesting to their tickets in a timely manner.
17 the charges against her. Chief -- respectfully 17 | wouldn't find out about it unless an officer
18 Chief Johnson has not been shown to have the 18 said something to me or most recently, as a
19 expertise to give that type of testimony. 19 matter of fact, | have a copy of an e-mail that
20 MR. GAY: You will have an 20 | addressed to her in January of last year in
21 opportunity to ask him those questions during 21 which one of my lieutenants, Lieutenant
22 yourtime. 22 Youngblood, brought to my attention that he was
23 Please proceed. 23 stopped in the hallway just prior to court by
Page 14 Page 16

=
—

BY MR. COURTNEY: Judge Bright that we had a list of officers that

2 Q. Would you answer the question, please? 2 had not signed off on citations or complaints in
3 A. Poor at hest. 3 atimely manner. Again, | had not spoken to
4 (3, Poor at best. Would you describe why you 4 Ms. Pugh or anyone on her staff. No one made an
5 formed that opinion? 5 atterpi. | checked with both my assistant chief
6 A. Yes,sir. Foranumber of years Ms. Pugh & and my patrol commander, Captain Thomas Reed.
7 has had a tendency to want to critique officers’ 7 Ms. Pugh or no one in the court department had
8 work product on what we call pro or on-view 8 made any attempt to advise me or anyone on the
9 arrests. In other words, an officer has viewed 9 command staff that we had an issue. 1spoke

10 a crime that that been committed, or under a 10 with Judge Bright after being -- that was

11 domestic violence situation investigated a 11 brought to me attention by Lieutenant

1z situation where we're required by law to make an 12 Youngblood, and Judge Bright immediately

13 arrest, and at that point in time, the officers 13 apologized to me and told me that she had no

14 file the paperwork. The arrest has already been 14 idea that ! was unaware and that she was made

15 made, and | would be notified by an officer that 15 aware by Ms. Pugh. So at that point in time

16 she's refusing to signh off on complaints, and | 16 that was not the first, that was just one of

17 haven't heard a word about it until my officer 17 many times that something similar to that had

18 comes and tells me. She's not made any attempt 18 happened. So | sent her an e-mail advising her

1¢ to have any kind of communication with me, and | 19 that that was totally unacceptable, that it was

20 --when [ attempted to talk to her about it, she 20 ynprofessional on her part, and a total fack of

21 would argue with me. 21 respect for my office and my department and

22 And I'm not going to say police officers 22 that's just one of several examples that | could

23 don't make mistakes. Obviously, we're human 23 give.

Cite, LLC
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Page 17 Page 19

woN =

o

Q. Tm going to show you what | got marked at
CM-A, City of Millbrook. Is that the e-mail

that was sent?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. You've got issues one and two. Did
you address both of those issues?

A. Yes. faddressed the other issue with her
as well. The other issue being that we were

W o=

officers coming on duty and officers going off
duty o aftest to things before their duty.

In speaking with court persennel, | found
out they have been instructed to not he
available on those hours. So these are the type
of issues that | had. | addressed that in the
e-mail as well.

Q. How did you find out they had been

9 having issues with officers not having 9 instructed not fo be available?
10 magistrates available for a period of time all 10 A. By a court personnel. She found out that
11 the way back to post 2013 when we moved into 11 they were here after 5:00, and she told them not
12 this building. When we were on the other side 12 to make themselves available.
13 of the road, at 3841 Grandview Road, we had 13 Q. Any particular court perscnnel say that to
14 always had in place where magistrates were 14 you?
15 available on the weekends and a couple of times 15 A. Anybody that was working in there. 1 heard
16 during the week after hours where officers -- we 16 it from more than one person.
17 work shift work. 17 Q. Understood. You identified CM-A?
18 Q. Yes, sir. 18 A. Correct.
19 A. Traditionally, prior to the last year, we 19 MR. COURTNEY: I only have cne copy.
20 would have worked three eight-hour shifts, 20 MR. DEBARDELABEN: Your Honor, I'm
21 6:00 a.m. to 2:00 p.m. and from 2:00 p.m. to 21 going to respectfully object. This is not in
22 10:00 p.m. and then from 10:00 p.m. to 6. So, 22 her personnel file. It does not follow your
23 ohbviously, magistrates are not here 24/7. So in 23 disciplinary procedures. This is totally
Page 18 pPage 20
1 the event that a warrant needed to be obtained 1 ambush and this is based upon, from his own
2 after hours, in a situation where we were not 2 testimony, blaiant hearsay. Now, we're here to
3 able to make an on-view arrest because we didn't 3 answer the charges that they charged against
4 see -- an example would be a shoplifting that 4 us. What we are hearing is a charge that has
5 pccurred at Walmart or something that may happen 5 nof been brought against us, and we're hearing
6 at a business after hours, we would be able to 6 jt foday. That's like going fo triai and when
7 cail magistrates in. When Ms. Pugh would 7 you get to trial you are told, Oh, we're geing
8 complain about officers not being ahle to attest & to try you for this. This is ambush.
9 to things in a timely manner because of off days 9 MR, GAY; Do you have anything?
10 or whatnot. We worked and had an arrangement in 10 MR. COURTNEY: Sure. None of that
11 place where a magistrate would come in on Sunday 11 matters. There's no rules of evidence. We are
12 afternoon and the officers that worked over the 12 in compliance with the City's procedures, and
13 weekend were able to attest to the things that's 13 he's wrong because it specifically says in her
14 required by law in a timely manner. Somewhere 14 March 1 letter in citing Section -- Chapter 6,
15 hetween the other side of the road and here that 15 Section 8, grounds for disciplinary action,
16 became an issue. Magistrates were not aiways 16 performances, attitude, work habits, personal
17 available on weekends. And in the afternoons 17 conduct, all of those things. Everything he is
18 when our officers needed to be able to attest to 18 saying goes directly to that. { realize this
19 things, Ms, Pugh would rather have it to where 19 is a quasi-judicial proceeding, but | just
20 we would have 10, 15, 20 officers coming in on 20 wanted to make that clear because everything he
21 overtime to sign off on things where we had in 21 said was wrong.
22 place where a magistrate would he here from, 22 MR. DEBARDELABEN: Your Honor, it
23 like, 5:00 p.m. fo 6:00 p.m. to allow those 23 doesn't comply with Section 9, Chapler 6 of the
Cite, ILLC
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Page 21 Page 23
1 disciplinary rules that said -- if you will 1 magistrate. You can't just hire someone off the
2 read them. It said it has {o be placed in her 2 street. So any time there's turnover, that
3 personnel file. You know, this is not placed 3 affects their ability to handle the volume of
4 in any place that we had to get our hands on it 4 cases that we bring to their office.
5 with nobody. It's not in her personnel file. 5 Q. Okay. Did you have an opportunity -- Fm
6 MR. GAY: Okay. & sure you did. Tl strike that.
1 MR. DEBARDELABEN: But, you know, 7 But in your -- just your conversation, your
it's y'all's choice. We're just saying that's 8 work with Ms. Pugh, would you assess, please,
9 another example of denying due process. 9 her general attitude in trying to rescive
10 MR. GAY: Please proceed. 10 jssues, trying to work with you and your
i1 MR. COURTNEY: Very good. 11 department?
12 BY MR. COURTNEY: 12 A, Over the 20 years that | worked with
13 Q. Did you have an opportunity fo ever view 13 Ms. Pugh, there have been times that we've had a
14 her office - the surroundings in her office? 14 good working relationship and got along fine,
i5 A. lhave. 15 put as the years have went on -- specifically
15 Q. I'msorry? 16 the past, | would say, five to six years -- she
17 A. Yes, sir, | have. 17 has become more difficult to deal with over a
18 Q. Would you describe that, please, for the 18 period of time. As | said, the communication
1% council? 1% between she and | is poor at hest simply because
20 A. Her office is very busy, and | can't say 2¢ she made every attempt not to have to speak to
21 that mine or any other office in here is not, 21 me unless she absolutely had to. And there are
22 but there have been several times when we've 22 times when -- | have staff that work for me. |
23 missed paperwork. Now, again, you're talking 23 have command staff. I've got a captain, I've
Page 22 Page 24

about two departments. You got a police
department. We generate the paperwork. The
paperwork goes to the court department. And
from time to time, there would be an issue about
where a bond or a copy of a warrant might be,
and there were times when officers left a copy

of a warrant in an arrest pack that it had to he
found and faken to her office and those prohlems

T ds W N

got an assistant chief. It is not necessary for

her to communicate with me on a daily basis.

There are things that department heads have to

discuss amongst ourselves, and when those times

arose, | would either send her an e-mail, or |

would get up from my desk and go around to her

office and we would have those conversations.
But there are numerous times that | sent

$ were corrected, but there were also times when 9 e-mails that were not responded to about things
1¢ we were looking for paperwork that they said 10 that | was concerned about issues within the
11 were missing and the actual paperwork was found 11 police department and our dealings with the
12 in the court department in -- amongst their 12 gourt department. Specifically, well, when it
13 paperwork. 13 -- | became aware that the court department no
14 Q. Have you seen much turnover in this office 14 longer -- and | have no idea when they lost the
15 gver the past few years? 15 ahility to do it. Was not aware until Judge
16 A. There's been a good bit of turnover in the 16 Bright came on board that they had no ability to
17 gourt depariment. 17 check criminal histories and backgrounds, which
18 Q. Has that caused your department any issue? 18 the judge needs for her information to be able
13 A, Other than having to adjust to different 19 to properly sentence people when she's making
20 people and the lack of ability to have certified 20 those decisions. When that was brought to my
21 people. Any time -- a magistrate is much like a 21 attention, we made arrangements to assist the
22 police officer. They have to have specialized 22 judge within the boundaries and guidelines that
23 training and certification before they can be a 23 we have with the state of Alabama to be able to

Cite, LLC
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Page 25 Page 27

=

1 disseminate that information. | don't have the campers, | guess would he a phrase to use, They

2 ahility to hand the judge a criminal history seem not to be as happy as folks should. |

wooN

3 report. | can fell the judge what the report mean, this is -- the City is a great place to

-

4 says, but] cannot give her that decumentation. work. We got great people here. And despite

w

5 That documentation should be generated from the the fact that we're in the business of putting

[=2]
feal

court document. | know in years past they had folks in jail and writing tickets, it's not

7 the ability, but, at some point in fime, they 7 personal. i¥'s a job. We've got a lot of great
8 lostit. When it was brought {o my attention 8 people that live in our city; even the ones that
9 that they no longer had that ability, | spoke ¢ wind up in this courtroom.
10 with Ms. Pugh at length, as well as the judge, 10 Q. So did you detect a leadership issue in
11 and advised them that that was a problem that 11 Ms. Pugh's office?
12 needed to be corrected. Several times | asked 12 MR. DEBARDELABEN: Your Honor,
13 Ms. Pugh for updates on what the progress was 13 that's going a littte bit farther, He is not
14 and what was being done to correct that problem 14 qualified to coma -- by his own testimony so
15 because in the interim what had to happen is my L5 far, he very seldom went there and she was
16 staff had to check criminal histories on as many 16 busy. He's noi qualified and have the
17 as 60 or 60 people prior to a court session, 17 experience {o comment on that -- even comment.
18 which hampered them from doing their jobs and 18 MR. GAY: Thisisa
19 other duties and responsibilities they had. Not 19 post-disciplinary hearing, and he is giving his
20 to mention, that was a good bit of information 20 testimeny, and you can -- you'll have your
21 for the judge to have to digest in a manner in 21 opportunity to ask questions on that.
22 which we had to disseminate that information, 22 MR. DEBARDELABEN: Your Honor —
23 and got very little, if any, response from Ms. 23 MR. GAY: Please proceed.
Page 26 Page 28
1 Pugh. i THE WITNESS: Mr. Courtney, may |
2 Q. Do you know of any other policies or 2 correct something?
3 procedures that perhaps Judge Bright put in 3 MR. COURTNEY: You may.
1 place that Ms. Pugh may not have responded to? 4 THE WITNESS: When ] said that |
5 A, lam aware that when Judge Bright came on 5 didn't deal with Ms. Pugh on a regular basis,
6 board and began to issue orders and warrants and 6 that does not mean | don't go in the court

-1

those types of things that things moved slower 7 depariment on a regular basis. { go inthe
than what Judge Bright would probably like for
them to do and there was a delay in getting

o
[o=]

court department on a daily basis for no other

o
t=]

reason because of allegations that have been

10 warrants and other documentation issued. 10 made by Ms. Pugh about my officers attesting to

11 Q. Have you formed an opinion of -- based on 11 paperwork and taking care of things in a timely

12 your observations, have you formed an opinion - 12 manner. There's rarely a day that goes by that

13 personal opinion of the morale in Ms, Pugh's 13 | don't goin there several times a day.

t4 office? 14 BY MR, COURTNEY:

15 A, The morale has not been good in 15 Q. Very good. So you've had ample opportunity

16 Ms. Pugh's office for some time. Most of the 15 to form these opinions that you're providing to

17 employees that have been in there; particularly 17 the council?

18 the ones that are in there now, as faras | 18 A. Correct.

1% know, do an outstanding job, have a good 19 Q. Ms. Pugh has been out -- you know how long

20 demeanor, and | don't think I've got any of my 20 she has been out of the office?

21 personnel that have any problems dealing with 21 A. If's been a couple of months now, [

22 them. Butl have --1 have noticed over a 22 believe.

23 period of time that they have not been happy 23 Q. Couple of months now. Have you seen any
Cite, LLC
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pt=]

11
12
13
14
i5
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23

difference in the operation of the office since

she's been out compared to now?

A. Well, I've seen two things. | think the

attitude and the demeanor of the employees have
been better, but I've also noticed there's been
some stress because in her absence and we've
also had another employee that has recently
resigned her full-time status and is now
part-time employee so that's putting a
tremendous amount of workload on the personnel
that's remaining.

Q. Verygood. Last question I'l have for you

for now anyway. Based on your experiences with
personnel in her department, were there times

that the employees in the court department did

not seem properly trained?

A. I'm not going to say they weren't properly
trained. | think they were somewhat hampered in
their ability to do their daily duties. | know

for example one of the issues that | had with

Ms. Pugh there were certain officers that she
critiqued more so than others, and | was advised
by personnel in the court department that some

w0

executive with over 240 hours continuing
education in my fiekd.
Q. Okay. And what training have you had in
evaluating municipal court clerk's work product?
A. I've had no training in court.
Q. Thank you, sir,

Now, whose responsibility is it, if you
know, to set bail in municipal court?
A. My understanding is we have a bail schedule
that | believe was set forth by the municipal
judge and the court department as far as | know,
Q. Okay. Are you familiar with Rule 18 of the
Rules of Judicial Procedure; specifically,
Rule 18(b)27
A. 1have no idea what you're citing, sir.
You are going to have to read it fo me.
Q. Yes, sir. it says in the Alabama Supreme
Court Rules of Judicial Procedure on munigipal
court magistrate agency division that authority
of magistrates in the municipal court magistrate
agency division is that setting bail in the
court with discretionary bail schedule and
approving property, cash, and professional

~1 o s g M

w

10
11

Fage 30
of those officers were required to see Ms. Pugh

and not to see the other two warrant clerks or
three warrant clerks that we had in there who
were fully capable of taking care of whatever
they needed, whether it be to get a complaint
signed off on or swear and attest to a ticket,
and | can't tell you what her motivation to do
that was. But to instruct your people to not
talk to certain people and not have dealings
with police officers, not have dealings with
other personnel, kind of hampers your ability to

W N

w

-~ e

10

Page 32
surety bonds upon a municipat judge's approval.

Did you disagree with that, sir?

A. ldon'tdisagree. | have no idea what
you're getting at.
Q. Did you send Ms. -- let me show it to you.
I don't want to ambtish you like | have been
ambushed.

MR. COURTNEY: But you're doing it
any way.

MR. DEBARDELABEN: No. Something
that he would have -

12 do your job. 1z MR. GAY: Gentlemen, fet's keep a
13 MR. COURTNEY: Very good. Thank 13 professional rapport, please.
14 you. Mr. DeBardelaben, may have some questions 14 BY MR. DEBARDELABEN:
15 far you. 15 Q. Do you recognize that document, sir?
16 MR. DEBARDELABEN: Yes, [ do. 16 A, ldo.
17 EXAMINATION 17 Q. Did you send that document to Ms. Pugh?
18 BY MR. DEBARDELABEN: 18 A, ldid but you're not going to like the rest
19 Q. What's your educational background? 19 of my answer.
20 A. | have graduated from Wetumpka High School. 20 Q. [just asked if you sent it.
21 | have been to Trenhoim Technical College, 21 A, [ did.
22 hriefly East Mississippi Junior College, and | 22 . And did you say alt personnel?
23 am state certified chief law enforcement 23 A, It did.
Cite, LLC
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1 Q. Yes, sir. And you attached an Exhibit A 1 Q. Did she issue any order adopting this bond
2 for hond schedule; is that correct? 2 schedule?
3 A. That is the existing bond schedule that was 3 A. Other than a conversation | had with her,

i)

11
12
13
14
15
ig
17
18
19
20
21
22
23

already published by the court department, sir.
Q. No. You attached it?
A. ldid.
Q. Okay. Are you aware under the Rules of
Judicial Administration, Rufe 4 says who
Ms. Pugh answers to is the municipal judge?
A. Yes, sir, and | discussed this with the --
Q. Yes, sir. You answered my question,
A. And | will finish my answer.
Q. No. You've answered it. | asked you were
you aware. If you'll answer my question, we'll
go a little faster. If you will -- then your
attorney -
A, Sir, | got your point.
Q. You got my point?
A. ldid.
Q. Thank you.

Now, how do you know Judge Pootl's order
expired on April 16, 20207
A. | had a conversation with Judge Pool.

o n o

10
11
12
13
14
i5
16
17
18
i9
20
21
22
23

I'm not aware of any order,

Q. Okay. So let me ask you this: You have a
captain in your department and a lieutenant;

right?

A. | have several lieutenants.

Q. Yes, sir. And they answer -- lieutenants
answer to the captains and the captain answers

to you?

A. All of them answer to me.

Q. They answer to you. Then should somebody
from a different department go in there and tell
them what to do or shoufd you telf them what to
do?

A. Sir, I'm going to repeat what | have
previously stated in response to your previous
question. The matter of bonds came up --1 had
a discussion with the judge. The judge approved
going back to the original bond scheduie. The
bond schedule was done because of COVID and
overcrowding in the jail.

= s W N

W o

10
11
12
13

Page 34
Q. Okay. But you didn't see -- did you see

where it said order expired?
A. Sir, 1 had a conversation with Judge Pool
prior to issuing this memo. He agreed.
Q. Well, how did you do that because you
issued this memo on November 6, 2020, and then
you said this has been discussed with Judge
Bright and she has no objection.

Was Judge Bright here on November the 6,
20207
A, Sir, | discussed it with Judge Bright, |
misspoke. | discussed it with the judge prior
to issuing the memo.

[N U1 % )

10
11
12
13

Page 36
Q. Well, [ appreciate your answer — your

response. That wasn't my question.

Should people other than you tell peopie in
your department what to do?
A. Sir, | was not telling her what to do. |
was telling her what the judged advised. We
sign off on these bonds more than they do.
Does she answer to you, sir?
No.
She answers to the judge, doesn't she?
Correct.

LrFrOPrPDO

And so she should be -- the judge is the
one who should tell her what to do, isn'tit?

14 3. Well, Judge Pool was already -- 14 A, Sir, I'm not telling her what to do. Never
15 A. I'm aware of that, sir. | misspoke. 15 have.
16 Q. He was already gone, wasn't ha? 16 Q. Maybe. Now, you never told her what to do?
17 5o you didn't discuss it with Judge Poaol. 17 A. |am not her supervisor.
18 A, No, | did not. | made a mistake, but] 18 MR. DEBARDELABEN: Your Honor, |
19 discussed it with the presiding judge. 19 would like to introduce this as our Employee
20 (). Thank you. 20 Exhibit 1.
21 Now, did you know if Judge Bright issued 21 MR. GAY: I'm sorry?
22 any memorandum adopting this bond schedula? 22 MR. DEBARDELABEN: We would like to
23 A, I'm not aware of any memorandum. 23 introduce this as Employee's Exhibit 1.
Cite, LLC
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Page 37 Page 39

BY MR. DEBARDELABEN:
Q. I'm going to show you a memorandum, please,
sir, and ask you if you've ever seen that

all | have if it's attached to it.
A. Sir, she was sent the attachment. You
presented me with this. | didn't present it to

LT 1 B %

w

Q. You threatened.

MR. DEBARDELABEN: We'll do this as
EP 2.
Q. Now, isn't the judge the head of the court

8 gystem?

A. Notwhen it comes to the alcohol testing

4 memorandum before? 1 you.
5 A. Of course | have. | wrote it. 5 Q. Okay. And --
6 Q. Yes, sir. And who is it addressed to? 6 A. She was given that documentation.
7 A, Itis addressed to Ms. Pugh. 7 Q. You wrote her another one dated January the
8 Q. And this is January 31, 20207 8 25th, didn't you?
% A. Correct. 9 A, ldid.
10 Q. Does this tell Ms. Pugh to do certain 10 Q. Again, said, i not, | am fully prepared to
11 things? 11 voice my concern with Mayor Kelly.
12 A. ldon't see it as telling Ms. Pugh to do 12 Did you ever - did you ever file a
13 anything. I'm advising Ms. Pugh of a situation 13 complaint against this tady?
14 that | was made aware of by the Alabama 14 A. Sir, if you're going to cite my words,
15 Department of Forensic Science and requesting 15 you're going to cite ali of them.
16 that she do whatever needs to be done to correct 16 Q. Did you ever file -- they have it. Did you
17 the issue that was raised, which we were in 17 ever file a comptaint again this lady?
18 arrears some $5,000 on DUI funding that is 18 A, |have spoken with the mayor several times,
19 supposed to be paid to the Alabama Department of 19 Have | made a formal compiaint in writing to
20 Forensic Science to pay for the testing program. 20 Mayor Kelly, no, | have not.
21 Fdon't consider this telling her what to do. [ 21 Q. So atno time can we go to the personnel
22 asked her to correct the problem. 22 rules and find any type of complaints you make.
23 Q. Butyou said if she doesn't do this you're 23 Can you tell me the dates you filed a complaint
Page 38 Page 40
1 going to get Mayor Kelly and Judge Ben Pool 1 or talked to Mayor Kelly about this fady?
Z involved, didn't you? 2 A. Sir, the only times that I've had any
3 A, Absolutely. 3 discussions with Mayor Kelly about Ms. Pugh is

when Ms. Pugh has complained to Mayor Kelly

5 about me about these situations that you're

questioning to me now. 1 can't give you
specific dates.

Q. Right.

A. The mayor approached me.

10 program that | am about to get my machine or our 10 Q. And you can't tell me really because -- did

i1 jpstrument taken. This has nothing to do with 11 you at any time on the meetings you had with

12 the judge. This has to do with the court 12 Mayor Kelly about Ms. Pugh, did you write a

13 department submitting fines that are dictated by 13 memorandum of record?

14 state law. 14 A. Sir, the memorandums that | have or e-mails

15 Q. And what state law is that, please, sir? 15 that! have are what [ voiced to Ms. Pugh

16 A, Sir, 1 can't cite the law to you because | i6 department head to department head. | have

17 don't have the forensic's documentation with me, 17 never tried to complain on Ms. Pugh officially

18 but! can tell you that if you got this e-mail, 18 to Mayor Kelly. | have made Mayor Kelly aware

19 you should have the attachment that came with it 19 of situations when she and | have spoken or when

20 that cites the law, and the question that | 20 he has asked me questions about complaints that

21 asked, and, you know, that there is a fine 21 she has made in reference to things that | have

22 schedule from heing -- 22 addressed to her. No, | don't have those

23 Q. Well, you have the e-mail, sir, and this is 23 memorandums hecause it was not my desire,
Cite, LLC
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Page 41 Page 43

W™

(2

10
11
12
13
14
15
16

Q. Okay. And you don't -- you didn't make any
and file a complaint about it, did you?

A. |just answered the question previously,
No, | have not.

Q. Okay. Now, you say Ms. Pugh's office is
busy?

A. More often than not, yes.

Q. Pardon me?

A. Meore often than not, yes, it is.

Q. So she has a lot of traffic coming in and

out of her office and a lot of - y'all make a

lot of cases in Miilbrook, don't you?

A. Notin her office. A lot of traffic is in

and out of the main office where the other two
or three magistrates work.

Q. And Millbrook Police Department y'all are

1 Mr. Jones, Mr. Gay, Mr. Harris, and Ms. Thomas
might mean different things?

WM

A, It's subjective. | agree with that
1 statement.

(5]

Q. Sointhe last three years, how much
6 turnover has there been, {o your knowledge, in

~

the clerk's office?

o

A. [can't tell you specifically how many

piel

peaple have left. | know there has been a
10 couple to leave,

11 MR. DEBARDELABEN: You know how many
12 jeft?

13 MS. PUGH: Do I?

14 MR. GAY: Are you asking her to take

i5 the stand?

16 MR. DEBARDELABEN: No. I'm going fo

10
it
12
13
14

Q. Because one has - after Ms. Pugh left, you
had one lady that's gone and another lady went
io part time; right?
A. Correct.
Q. And that was after Ms. Pugh left.

You were asked about the turnover in the
clerk's office. Do y'all have a lot of turnover
in the police department?
A. Police in general have turnover, yes.

17 pretty good. Y'all make a lot of cases, don't 17 ask her in a minute.

18 you? 18 BY MR. DEBARDELABEN:

19 A. We make a tremendous amount of cases. 15 Q. Sovyou don't know --

20 Q. And they have four employees working that 20 MR. GAY: Wait one minute. If you

21 office, don't they? 21 are going to ask her, she needs to stay up

22 A. Attimes. 22 there.

23 Q. Sometimes three? 23 MR. DEBARDELABEN: tknow. |was

Page 42 Page 44

1 A. Correct. 1 asking her to tell me so | can ask them.
2 Q. And{ think lately they've had three? 2 MR. GAY: H's on recording.
3 A. Correct. 3 BY MR. DEBARDELABEN:
4 Q. And even lately they only have one and a 4 Q. Now, do you know what all -- when you
5 half now; correct? 5 complained to Ms. -- about what Ms. Pugh was
6 A. Youare correct. 6 doing. | noticed same of it you were

1

complaining in her rofe as magistrate or was all

o

of it in her role as magistrate or was some of

=]

it in her role as court clerk?

10 A, She is the chief magistrate. She is over
11 the court. Any conversation | had to deai with
12 her dealt with the court department

13 specifically,

14 @, Do you realize that the court clerk and the

15 magistrate have -- are set out duties

16 Q. Right. And soit's not anything unusual 16 separafely?
17 for a department to have turnover? 17 A. I'm aware of that,
18 A, It's not unusual for any profession to have 18 Q. Sir?
19 turnover, hut there's been a tremendous amount 15 A, lam aware of that.
20 of turnover in that office. 20 Q. And thal's what | was asking you. Were you
21 Q. Well, when you say tremendous amount, sir, 2t gomplaining about her job as court clerk or her
22 tremendous amount to me and tremendous amount to 22 job as magistrate?
23 you and tremendous amount to Mr. Hodge, 23 A, Both.
Cite, LLC
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1 Q, Okay. Now, isn'tit the magistrate's duly 1 did and you're giving me general answers. You
2 to make sure when they issue a warrant that 2 can't tell me the date, the time, the ptace so
3 there's proper probable cause fo issue that 3 we can go back and pull i and be sure and see
4 warrant? 4 what you're doing. You've giving us general

(S}

5 A. More so on warrants but on complaints, yes, answers. So what I'm asking can you give me a

o

6 the elements of the crime must be met.
7 Q. Andif's her duty to ascertain as best she
8 can if the elements of a crime are met; correct?

date? Can you give me a time? Can you give me

-

a name? Can you give me something so it's just

o]

not hearsay?

% A. Yes, sir. And when it's in black and white % A. Sir, | can tell you that there have heen
10 if's there. 10 numerous instances. For Instance, she has a
11 Q. And if she does her job good, that protects 11 problem with officer discretion. | -- and if |
12 a police officer from a false arrest and a had 12 peed to get the officer in here, I'll get the
13 warrant, doesn't it? 13 officer in here.
14 A. Noton pro arrests, no, it doesn’t, 14 But we had a situation where a robbery had
15 Q. It doesn't protect the police officers? 15 gecurred. We responded to a robbery. Myself
16 A, Noton pro arrest. If the person is 16 and the assistant chief and the officers that
17 already -- if the arrest has heen affected, no. 17 were available responded to a robbery in
18 Q. Butit protects them if they have to have a 18 progress. We made a traffic stop on the vehicle
19 warrant before they can go out and arrest? 19 matching the description of what was supposed to
20 A. Well, you don't have to have a warrant on 20 he the robbery suspect. When we made contact
21 pro arrest. You're - 21 with the individual, we rapidly ascertained that
22 Q. All of your airests aren't pro -- what are 22 the individual that we had detained was not, in
23 you saying pro? 23 fact, the person that executed the robbery.

Page 46 Page 498

=

1 A. Onview, sir. If you commit a erime in However, during our detaining of that

front of me, | don't need a warrant. I'll put individual, he was found to be very much

W N
WM

you in jail right here right now. Thaf's what intoxicated. Due to the fact that we were

e
S

I'm talking about. responding to a priority crime, we had two

5 Q. Right. But one that didn't happen in front 5 problems. I've gof a robber in the area that
6 of you you have to have a warrant, don't you? ¢ we're trying to locate; I've got an individual
7 A, Correct. 7 that is intoxicated. | can't et him go because
8 Q. Sowhen you're complaining about Ms. Pugh's & he is a danger to himself and others. We made a
¢ being in her magistrate duties, are you talking ¢ decision to place that individual under arrest
10 gbout issuing warrants for arrests or coming in 10 for public intoxication. He was in a public
11 and having the warrant filed out? 11 place. He was intoxicated. Ms. Pugh wanted to
12 A, No. I'm talking about sighing off on 12 guestion and refused to sign off on the
13 cemplaints on arrests that have been made. 13 paperwork based on the fact that the individual
14 Q. And shouldn't she make sure that they have 14 in her opinion should have been charged with
15 the right documentation in them? 15 DUI. Officer discretion. We made an arrest for
16 A. And the documentation in the instances that 16 a lesser offense, took care of the problem, and
17 I'm speaking of were there. 17 got back on the street looking for a robbery
18 Q. OQOkay. Do you have those instances that you 18 suspect. Those are the type of examples that
19 can tell us about? 19 I'm talking about.
20 A, S8ir, | don't have any paperwork in front of 20 Q. Well, | understand Ms. Pugh's concern about
21 me specifically, but ] can cite several. 21 that.
22 Q. Well, sir, my problem is -- and I'm not 22 A. lunderstand it too, but that's not her
23 trying to be -- I'm teying to find out what she 23 role.

Cite, LLC
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Page 49 Page 51
I received from the State of Alabama Department

et

1 Q. lunderstand why she did it. Can you give

me a date, time, and place that happened so we of Forensic Science Implied Consent Division in

W

reference to the possibility of the City of
Milibrook and the Millbrook Police Department
loosing their breath testing instrument and

can check it?

=W N
'S

A. Sir, | can tell you that the traffic stop
was made in the area of the ABC Store on Highway

oy
(=2l 2]

14 approximately maybe five -~ four or five therefore the ability to test people's breath

7 years ago. | can't give you an exact date. 7 for alcohol in the presence of the DU or

o
o

Q. This was four or five years ago? post-accident or anything that would require a

9 A. Sir, that's just one example. You asked ¢ breath alcohol test. | merely brought to her

10 for an example. 10 attention that it was brought to my attention

11 Q. Yes, sir. Have you got anything that you 11 that the court department, which is her

12 can tell me that happened since -- were you 12 responsibility, had not, in fact, submitted the

13 aware that she had bean found to do her job 13 funds that they believe based on the amount of

14 properly during all of this pericd of fime? 14 DUl arrests that we had made that should have

15 A, Sir, I'm not aware of anything contained in 15 heen made to them, and that was my only

16 her personnel files. 1don't view them. 16 inference in that.

17 Q. Okay. [ think the -- it would be achieved i1 The other e-maii that he made reference to

18 standards. You say that happened in 20 -- 18 on the 25th of January, which was the second

19 A, Approximately. | can'trecall. | can't 19 e-mail because she failed to respond to the

20 tell you exactly what date it was. 20 first e-mail that | sent her on the January

21 Q. 20157 21 22nd, outlined two incidents. The first being

22 A, Approximately. 22 that she took it upon herself to complain to the

23 Q. Well, did you know all of her performance 23 judge about my officers failing to do what they

Page 50 Page 52

1 appraisals since that fime have either been 1 were required o do and signing and attesting to
2 excellent or good? 2 tickets and swearing out to complaints. She
3 A. I previously answered the question. I'm 3 made the judge aware without making any aitempt
4 not aware of her personnel file. 4 to speak with me or anyone on my command staff.
5 MR. DEBARDELABEN: That's all. 5 That was not only a failure to communicate, it

o
[=2]

REEXAMINATION
BY MR. COURTNEY:
8 Q. Chief, you got cut off on a coupfe of
9 answers. Are there any answers that you wouid

was totally disrespectful and lack of

-
-1

professionalism on her part as far as | am

oo

concerned. | merely made that assessment to her

w

and asked her in the future moving forward to

10 Jike to complete to any of the guestions that 10 ¢onsuit with me or someone on my command staff

11 Ms. DeBardelaben posed to you? 11 if she had any concerns or my officers had

12 A. Onthe e-mails that Mr. DeBardelaben asked 12 failed to do anything that they needed to do.

13 me to view -~ 1 don't think when | end an e-mail i3 The second issue that | outlined very

14 with the phrase: | will extend you the curtesy 14 simply addressed the inability or the lack of

15 as a department head by giving you an 15 access that we had the magistrates to be able to

16 opportunity to handle this without involving 16 do what she was complaining about in the first

17 Mayor Kelly or Judge Pool. That stated | will 17 place, which was sign on our complaints and

18 not have any recourse but to involve both should 19 aftest to things. We have to have a magistrate

12 this matter not be resolved. | don't consider 19 present fo do that. There's not one here at

20 that a threat, and | certainly don't consider 20 6:00. And | can assure you | cannot speak for

21 asking her to correct a problem, which | 21 the mayor or not the city council or the chief

22 outlined in this e-mail, which is fairly 22 financial officer, but I think it's a whole lost

23 lengthy, which was in response to an e-mail that 23 easier and financially feasible to pay one
Cite, LLC
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1 magistrate o be available to do that versus 1 critme, the police officer has to know those

elements anrd be able to make a determination.
Boots on the ground within a matter of minutes,
whether or not to make an arrest or whether or

paying 15 or 20 poilce officers to come in here

W

on their off time at ftwo hours per officer.

S
= N

You're talking ahout one hour worth of overtime

5 versus 20. That makes no sense. And all | did 5 not a warrant s going to have to be
6 was point that out to her. 6 ascertained. Magistrates and lawyers don't
7 Q. Verygeod. i'mgoing to ask you for a 7 walk around with that positioned in their head.
& quick point of clarification for the council. 8 Pm not saying theyre not professional. I'm
9 Would you describe for the councif the 9 not saying they don't know the faw. They don't
10 difference between an officer in the field 10 know it like police officers have to know it.
11 finding probable cause for an arrest versus a 11 BY MR. COURTNEY:
12 magistrate finding probable cause for the 12 Q. Mr. DeBardelaben asked you some questions
13 jssuance of a warrani? 13 about bail in general, that kind of thing. Are
14 MR. DEBARDELABEN: I'm going to 14 you aware of any issues regarding bond
15 object. 15 forfeitures and how any current practice or
16 MR. GAY: You will have your moment, 16 formal practice when Ms. Pugh was in her
17 sir. Everybody is going fo have equal time. 17 position has any of those practices caused your
18 Go head and please proceed. 18 department any issue?
19 THE WITNESS: A magistrate -- and 19 A. | can speak to bond forfeitures as far as
20 with all due respect to your profession and 20 honding companies and those type of things and
21 Mr. DeBardelaben, a magistrate -- despite the 21 property bonds. To my knowledge, in the 25-plus
22 fact that they have had training, and lawyers 22 years that | have been here, 1 don't think the
23 y'ali do not walk around with Title 13 or 23 City of Millbrook has ever forfeited on a bond
Page 54 Page 56

.
—

that was made either through a bonding company
or on a property bond. Now, | do helieve that

whatever law that you practice in your head.
You have a case, you research that case, you
lock it up in a book, or you look it up on the

4 computer and you make reference to it, and
that's how you do your research and that's how
you practice law and make your determination.
7 A police officer has to be familiar enough with

W Mo
WM

on cash bonds and instances where we have
physical contact and have possession of an
individual’'s cash bond, and they don't do as
directed by their hond, and they fail to appear
in court, | do believe that we have seized that

o n
-~ o O

g8 the law to know the elements of the crime. 8 money in those cases.
9 'l use theft of property third, for example, 9 I can tell you that I've had issues with
10 or fourth. We have shoplifting that occurs on 10 the court department on bonds in the past. We
11 adaily basis at Walmart or other stores. | 11 have had some issues with securlty as far as
12 won't just pick on Walmart. If a police 12 cash money being secured on the premise of which
13 officer responds to a call and he understands 13 we finally remedied by getting a safe that was
14 that an amount of money has been taken, and the 14 basically impossible to enter. The only people
15 amount of money is below $500, he knows those 15 that have the code to that safe is the court
16 elements and he knows if he views that crime or 16 department and they retrieve that money, but
17 has probable cause to believe that crime has 17 there was a period of time when -- because of
18 been committed and he has a complaint he can 12 security issues that | had my officers
19 make an arrest. Domestic violations situation, 19 discontinue taking cash honds for lack of
20 if a police officer responds fo a home and a 20 security, and the court had to do that and we
21 man and a woman or family member have engaged 21 had some issues with that.
22 in some type of violence or violent behavior 22 I want to revisit one thing that was
23 against each other and the elements of the 23 addressed earlier about this bond schedule. The
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Page 57
bond schedule that iMr. DeBardelaben handed me is

the same bond schedule that has been In
existence in this police department basically
the 25 years that | have been here. It may have
been amended as far as increasing some of the
honds from 500 to 1,000 on drug charges and
things of that nature. But hefore this bond
schedule was approved to go back to regular and
quit -- what we were doing prior to my
memorandum is basically what we call catch and
release. If we had an individual that was
arrested for a crime, it doesn't matter what
kind of crime it was, unless it was DUl or
domestic violence, which by law you are reguired
to sit for 24 hours for what is called a
cooling-off period, or an individual is
intoxicated or under the influence of some type
of narcotic to the extent that they were a
danger to themselves and others, unless you met
those two criteria, if we arrested you, you went
in the front door and out the back boor.

When | had the conversation with Judge
Bright, [ asked Judge Bright if enough time had

F-N =

w1 &L
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. Page 59
issued that you're saying expired on April 16,

2020, wasn't it?

A. 8ir, | can't recall when that order was
issued. |stand by my previous statement of how
this memo came to be and the discussion that |
had with the judge.

Q. Well, I'm confused because | don't know how
Judge Pool's order expired. Now you're saying
that Judge Bright said it was expired, and I'm
just confused how you got to this point when we
have nothing here that tells us, and it appears

to be the police department directing the court
system.

A. |believe that's an inference you're trying
to make, sir, but, no.

Q. Do you get a yearly evaluation?

A. ldo.

Q. What's the purpose of that yearly
evaluation?

A. The purpose of the yearly evaluation is to
evaluate the employee’s job performance.

Q. Should you be able to depend on that yearly
evaluation?

[y S I YR )
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Page 58
went by -- we had been given the clear by the

Elmore County Jail and Sherlff Bili Franklin
that they were going to release restrictions in
the jail and we were able to incarcerate people
and hold people where we had not otherwise been
able to due to COVID. .Judae Bright reviewed the
Judge's order and she told me in her opinion
that it had expired and by all means go back to
what we had been doing prior to the COVID
restrictions.
MR. COURTNEY: Thank you. | don't
have anything further.
Mr. DeBardelaben, de you have
anything further for the chief?
REEXAMINATION
BY MR. COURTNEY:
Q. Are you aware when Southern Poverty Law
Center was reviewing the municipal court and
Judge Pool issued a bond order based on his
agreement with Southern Poverty Law Center?
A. Iam familiar with the Judge's order.
Q. And that was after this order you referred
o here, wasn't it? That was after the order he

9
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11
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15
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17
18
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Page 60
A. In my opinion, | would think, yes.

Q. And when you get a yearly evaluation, do
you self-evaluate?

A. Sir?

Q. Do you do what they call self-evaluate
since you're a depariment head?

A. 1have.
Q. And the mayor goes over it?
A. He does.

Q. And he can change it if he doesn't agree
with it?

A. |don't believe that he has buf he has the
ahility to, absolutely.

Q. Yes, sir. And so it says you're telling

the mayor, Mr. Mayor, this is the kind of job
thought | done. If you agree with it, sign off
on if; if you don't, you make changes. That's
the way you present it to him, isn't it?

A. Sir, | do what I'm instructed to do and
what happens after that [ couldn’t teli you.
Q. When you do the self-evaluation, do you
turn it in to the personnel director, human
resources, or do you tusn it in to the mayor?
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A. Everything that comes from my department is
forwarded to City Hall and disseminated as
needed.

Q. So who do you forward it to at City Hall?

A. It might be the city clerk. It could be

the HR director. In that case, normally it

would be the HR director. 1t could be the city
clerk.

Q. Okay. So the annual report goes through

F= AT & LI N S

council a bit about your experience before you
became city court judge here in Millbrook.

A. Okay. Ispent 25 years on the district
court bench in Montgomery County. District
court bench is criminal jurisdiction. It's very
similar to municipal court with misdemeanors,
traffic court. We also had civil jurisdiction

8 in addition to that, and | had limited

jurisdiction in felony cases to do preliminary

10 the HR director to the mayor? 10 hearings, bond settings, and so forth.
11 A. To the best of my knowledge, yes. | can't 11 Since my retirement from the district court
12 telt you how the inner workings of City Hall, i2 bench, F have filled in a couple of times by
13 put | would bhelieve that to be correct, 13 request of special appointment for other judges.
14 (), But as you're standing there, and | think 14 } had the distinct opportunity to sit on the
15 you should -- you depend on -- if you're doing 15 Alabama Supreme Court to hear an appeal that all
16 something wrong or not right, you depend on the 16 the judges had recused on. There were several
17 mayor to say, Look, Chief, you need to correct 17 district court judges and circuit court judges
18 this, don't you? 18 appointed to do that.
19 A, I've had no problems with the mayor having 1% And during my time on the bench in
20 to correct me, but | believe he would if { was 20 Montgomety, | was assigned as a special circuit
21 needed. 21 judge to do matters of domestic relations, and |
22 3. And if he says you're doing okay, doing a 22 served in multiple counties te fill in for
23 good job, good, F'lt keep on doing what I'm 23 judges who were ouf on leave for iliness or
Page 62 Page 64
i doing; correct? 1 whatever, but [ served around the state in
2 A, Sir, again, I've had no cause to be 2 multipie courts doing that.
3 reprimand by the mayor, but | would assume that 3 Q. Okay. With all of that experience, did the
4 to be correct, yes. 4 State use that experience in training others
5 MR. DEBARDELABEN: Okay. That's 5 that may come into the court system?
6 all. 6 A. Yes. The vast majority of my time on the
7 MR, COURTNEY: I don't have anything 7 bench | had the opportunity fo train every new
8 further for the Chief. 8 district court judge that came into service in
g MR. GAY: You may be excused. 9 Alabama. If it was after an election, | would
10 Will you call your next 10 train through courses. | would teach the
11 witnesses? 11 gourses every time on DUI, traffic court,
12 MR. COURTNEY: [ calt Judge Lynn 12 griminal procedure, and then at other times,
13 Bright. 13 domestic violence, and at other times, | would
14 JUDGE LYNN BRIGHT, 14 be asked to frain in other -- in other courses.
15 the witness, having previously been 15 If a new district judge was appointed off season
16 sworn, testified as follows: 16 .- in other words, it wasn't by election but the
17 EXAMINATION 17 governor appointed, Alabama Administrative
18 BY MR. COURTNEY: 18 Office of Courts would generally send them to me
19 Q. Good evening, Judge. 19 to spend a week or two just following me around
20 A, Good evening. 20 and learning on the job.
21 Q. You're Judge Lynn Bright? 21 Q. Very good. When you came to the City of
22 A, lam. 22 Millbrook and you came to the clerk’s office
23 Q. Okay. And if you would please tell the 23 here -- the cowrt office here, describe please
Cite, LLC
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1 for the council your impressions of what you 1 gase and we might not have the file, and it
2 saw. 2 would slow court down. Quite honestly it would
3 A, | will say this: 1 knew before | arrived 3 be -- quite honest it was embarrassing for me,

oo

that municipal courts are going to be a little

bit different in that they're not going to have
the resources. So often their judges are
attorneys who practice iaw full-time and will
serve under contract with the municipality to be
a judge, so they might not have ever been

but it was embarrassing for me on hehalf of the
City of Millbrook. | knew we could do better.
| knew Millbrook deserved a better court than
how we were operating.

And | want to say this in defense of
Ms. Pugh. | understood that things had been

10 through the training, might not have ever served 10 different with Judge Pool, and | want to say
11 in a system that has all the resources we did at 11 this: | have the absolute, upmost respect for
12 the state. | kind of liken it to we at the 12 my long-time friend Ben Pool, and I'm not trying
13 state court could be compared to the federal 13 to speak in any way disparagingly against him,
14 court and find that we're not quite as resourced 14 but he just operated different. For one example
15 and capable probably. Same thing with municipal 15 one of the most principles of judging is that
16 courfs. They're just generally not going to 16 every person who is sentenced gets a sentencing
17 have resources, or they may not even be aware of 17 order. Every person who comes in your court,
18 the resources that are available through the 18 unless they have compietely concluded that case
19 Administrative Office of Court for training. | 19 that day by a traffic ticket walked out and
20 expected to find it different, and | did. 20 paid, no jail sentence. Those people don't get
21 Q. Okay. And regardless of the resources -- 21 on order, but everybody else should either geta
22 I'l get right to it. Basic skills and 22 payment order or they should get, if they have
23 abilities of Ms. Tammy Pugh in that department, 23 peen sentenced to jail, a sentencing order, |
Page 66 Page 68
1 what did you observe? L learned that they had not heen doing any order,
2 A, | think the first thing | noticed when | 2 and | don't blame anybody on the clerk’s staff
3 arrived was that there was tremendous amount of 3 for that. It's just the way it was, and |
4 disorganization. Some good people working in 4 understood that. And here | came In expecting
5 that court who had a good work ethic, and | 5 it to be done the way not only | had done it,
¢ assumed that of Ms. Pugh when i got there and & but all the judges | had known had done it over
7 found that in certain circumstances she was 7 the years. | said, We got fo have orders,
8 certainly doing portions of her joby, What| 8 y'all. We got to have orders,
9 found, though, was a lack of leadership and it 9 So the first day | was in court | literally
10 just seemed like it was so unclear who was to do 10 at home typed my own orders -- fill-in the blank
11 what, who was to handle the traffic tickets, who 11 .. and wrote if in the amount of the fine; if
12 was to take care of closing out the files after 12 there was a jail sentence, wrote that in; sent
13 court. |think that was probably one of the 13 somebody out to get it copied and bring it back
14 bigygest problems. When | physically walked into 14 in. It was very burdensome to do it that way,
15 the offices there, there were stacks of files 15 but ! knew | wasn't going to do court without
16 around almost everybody's desk, and then when | 16 issuing proper orders.
17 walked into Ms. Pugh's office, it was ridiculous 17 To give you an example, one of the reasons
18 the number of stacks of files and returned mail 12 you have to do that is If you got a DUl and you
15 that had gone out to bad addresses just come 13 sentence somebody to six months, a year in jail,
20 back and put in boxes. Stacks and stacks and 20 whatever you want to give them, to serve no time
21 stacks everywhere. 21 or to serve a portion of the time, at some
22 Well, how that effected court was that | 22 poind, they're going to be on probation, and
23 would be sitting there on the benchand call a 23 while they're on prohation, there's certain
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requirements. The law requires they go to the
court referral program. You know, that they not
he drinking while they're a part of the court
referral program, that they not be arrested on a
new DU, that they not be arrested for driving
revoked when they were revoked from the DUI.
These are the kind of things that over the years
requiring people to go to the court referral
program teally allowed me as a judge and me and

=2}

w0

leave the courtroom to go find it, and we would
have to send back and see if Tammy was still

here and see if she could go and try to find it
because whoever was back there taking money and
working the window they couldn't stop their job

to do that. So that kind of confusion was

coming from the way the whole office was
disorganized, and it didn't take me long to

figure out that it was. | just couldn't

10 my fellow judges to make a difference in 10 understand why.
11 people’s lives, to help people get sober. It's 11 | came in at the beginning of the dockets
12 the one thing that a judge can do that the 12 heing started back after COVID. Once again, al}
13 family can't do, the employers can't do, anyway. 13 fairness in that COVID has caused a lot of
14 Long story short, unless you have a written 14 changes in the office. So [ kKept hearing Tammy
15 order, you cannot violate that person's 15 fell me, Well, before COVID we did this, before
16 probation. You cannot make a finding that they 16 COVID we did this, before COVID we did this, and
17 had violated probation because they were never 17 COVID has got us where we can't do this. And so
ig given an order that had those requirements in 18 | said, Well, why are these files sitting here,
19 them. Due process as Mr. DeBardelaben has 19 and | would find out that some of the stacks of
20 talked about. So that order that had to be 20 files were literally the ones that had come out
21 given to the defendant, me coming in and saying, 21 of this courtroom after court and had not been
22 Y'all, we're doing it with orders, we got to do 22 processed, and it was weeks -- often times weeks
23 it the right way, really caused a lot of 23 hefore the entry that | made in court or the
Page 70 Page 72
1 gonfusion, and I know this was difficult on 1 order that [ made in court ever got into a file,
2 Tammy, and | know it was difficult on her staff. 2 ever got into the computer system. [t was -- it
3 So when we talk about things that Judge Bright 3 was just a horrible laq.
4 did that changed things that was probably the 4 I also learned from Tammy that those
5 most difficult for them to sort of move into. 5 dockets that had been cancelled in the spring
6 We've goiten it. We're doing it right now. Kim 6 time most of them had not been set. And | would
7 sits in court with me, and we got those orders 7 have people standing in front of me with a
8 out, but it was difficult getting there. 8 traffic ticket that they had gotten recently and
9 Back to the situation though. As | stepped 9 it had been scheduled for that date and also
10 into Ms. Pugh's office, stepped out into the 10 learn that they had a traffic ticket back during
11 [obby, ali | can think to myself is what are all 11 the cancelled dockets and haven't even got a new
12 these files doing here and then [ -- it was a 12 gourt date forit. [ know for a factitwas a
13 result of those stacks of files that when one 13 good six months after | got here before the
14 missing when we were in court it couldn't be 14 cancelled dockets from COVID got rescheduled,
15 found. It could -- often times could not even 15 And in doing that there were a huge number of
16 he found that night, and I'm looking at somebody 16 mistakes. You can look in any of our files from
17 who has come to court. Every once in a while 17 that period of time and you will see court date
18 they might have their paperwork with them where 18 change, court date change, court date change,
19 they were charged, but | couldn’t do their case. 19 and there would be no explanation in the file
20 Qrif an attorney or someone had filed something 20 for me to understand why it was changed all of
21 in a fite, it wouldn't be there often, and so 21 those times, and | kept asking Tammy what's the
22 the whole court procedure stops while somebody 22 problem -- what's the problem here. | have
23 .- and Kim can't leave the courtroom, | can't 23 never had words with Tammy. She and | got along
Cite, LLC
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1 fine. | just kept saying, Tammy, we've got to 1 the responses were not impolite, not
2 do something about this. We got to change it. 2 disrespectful, just as though she wasn't
3 Finally, | figured I'll go find out how 3 comprehending that they even had a problem here,

£y
e

they do it elsewhere, so | went over to much iess that there needed to be a whole lot to

Prattville, and from the moment | walked into do to correct it.

that office, | knew that there was a huge | asked her to please go over and watch

- ™
~ e

difference in what was going on over there and court in Prattvilie. Please go over and see,

=]

8 what was going on over here. And | was so and 1 said, If you see, you'll see what I'm

O

9 impressed with the team work; with the spirit in talking. Well, she never made it over for court

10 that office, with the -- it was like a Singer 10 even though they had scheduled her fo be there
i1 sawing machine. Everybody knew what they were 11 or she scheduled and cancelled, schedufed and
12 supposed to be doing. | watched court for a 12 cancelled, but she did go over and meet with
13 while. It moved without any problems, That 13 Charlotte for a little bit and spent some time
14 judge never was missing a file. And the judge 14 pver there. Charlotte talked with me after.
15 would send them out the door, they picked up 15 She said, | think she's really starting to see
16 their order - he gave orders to. Their orders 16 and understand, you know, so | though well,
17 at the window. They were processed through 17 maybe this is going to help. It reaily didn't.
18 their system. And so that excited me. | was so 18 And we have come along way. I'm going to
19 thrilled to see that it was -- that it could be 19 say that. Even the time Tammy was there we have
20 done, so ] came back and talked with Tammy. 20 come along way. We have figured out -- we
21 Oh. Well, let me say this too: Charlotte, 21 worked with the current software in Millbrook to
22 who is the chief clerk there, told me that COVID 22 get my orders in there so that they can be put
23 had given them the opportunity to have the time 23 put. Kim is able to sit by me now and get the
Page 74 Page 76
1 to polish up the procedures, things that they 1 job done. | believe that once the files are

have not had maybe time to get around to, the
little details that made the whole deal better

getting back to the office that they are getting
-~ finally processed. They have to -- somebody

W N
[FC I N |

4 because all of those cancelled dockets happened. 4 is stilt going to have to deal with that file

5 They actually caught up and got ahead. And 5 when it gets back to the office. And what was

6 every time they had to cancel a docket for ¢ happening when I got there was they were just

7 COVID, they immediately reset it for some time 7 siting in stacks. Now, | believe that within a

8 in the future even though that meant that if 8 matter of days and -- at least a week or 50 --

9 COVID continued they might have to reschedule it 9 that those files are inputted into the system,
10 again. They did that. And they just stayed 10 make sure everything is correct, close them out,
11 right on top of it. 11 and do what needs to be done. So we have come a
12 | come back over here and try and teli 12 |long way, but it was absolutely shocking where
13 Tammy. | said, Tammy, this - it can be done, 13 it was at that time.
14 We got to figure out how. I've never worked in i4 One of the things when | walked into
15 a clerk’s office. 1've been around one a lot, 15 Prattville is they had this fantastic shelving
i6 hut I've never worked in one, and I'm certainly 16 gystem that went all the way down the wall where
17 not familiar with the program that was being 17 every court date you could find all the files
18 used here -- the computer program software, so | 18 that were there. The trial files -- the ones
12 .. and | also knew | was working under contract 1% that had been set for trial -- were ina
20 for the City of Millbrook. | was not her direct 20 separate area, but ail of the cases were set by
21 poss in the sense that | was going to come in 21 court date. And, of course, they used numbers
22 and start barking orders at her. | just kept 22 because they were on a different system, and the
23 saying, Tammy, can we not get this done. And 23 clerks have convinced me that doing it
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1 alphabetically by date is just as good, and I'm 1 whole lot better.
2 fine with that, but there was a period of time 2 With regard to Ms, Pugh, | don't think she
3 when we tried to the change that. | came back 3 was at all happy that Ms. Waits came, but she
4 and said, Tammy, can we order some of these --| 4 was kind to her. But i think there was a quiet
5 talked to the mayor. He approved me ordering 5 resistance. ] was told by -- was told by
¢ the filing system. [ said, Can we order these 6 someone in the office that she had indicated
7 where you can find the files. They were 7 that when Becky was gone it was going to go back
8 cramming them into an old filing cabinet. Just, & the way -- the way it used to be and that is
9 you know, packing it in, so | think that's one 5 something that was said to me. I don't know if,
10 of reasons that the files got stacked up because 10 in fact, she said it, so | don't want to play
11 jtwas such a chore to leave your desk, take 11 that on her. But i felt like there was a little
12 those files around, and stick them back in that 12 resistance. She didn't want it to be changed.
13 old filling cabinet instead of walking up to an 13 She had wanted it to be done the way it had
14 gpen system where you can just stick it in by 14 always been done.
15 date and find them when you needed them. It is 15 So, yes, | brought some changes in. The
16 so much hetter now. | have my files in court, 16 law requires the changes that | brought in, and
17 and, you know, with this system being an 17 | aiso tried my best -- not with me telling them
18 established -- 18 how you do it, but trying to find somebeody that
19 And | know you've not asked me a question, 19 gould show Tammy how to provide the leadership
20 but if | could address the issue that after 20 there. And the number one problem i ever had
21 coming back from Prattville and not seeing that 21 with Tammy Pugh Iis the complacency, what seemed
22 things were changing a lot, | went to the mayor 22 to he an inability to even understand how bad it
23 and said, We need somebody. | don't know, and | 23 was, and when | would try to say, Tammy, couid
Page 78 Paye 80
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don't want to act like | do know, how to tell we blease do this, her telling me that's not the

them to do intricate details of their job. I'm way we've done it, and she often times would

W N
W N

not going to do that. So{asked him -- | said, apologize for -- because she had heen to

4 | know someone that -- AOC -- | called the

=3

trainings where they would -- she told me that

5 Administrative Office of Courts and talked with 5 she would go to trainings, tearn things, come
6 the different people there and said, Do you have 6 back, and it wasn't the way it was heing done
7 people that can come in and help show Tammy -- | 7 before i got there, and | understood that and §
& didn't call her by name, but show our clerk how 8 felt for her in that. Because ali of a sudden
9 to work some of these things out so we can get 9 here | come in and | want it done by the law. 1
10 some organization in there, and they said, Well, 10 want it to be done the way as a judge | have
11 there's probably some people that will be 11 bheen trained, as | have trained other judges, as
12 available and they mentioned Becky Waits. Bechy 12 they train the magistrates through the
13 used to be the deputy clerk of the Circuit Court 13 Administrative Office of Courts, and it was
14 in Montgomery for a number of years. She was 14 gverwhelming for her, and | think that's a word
15 right under the elected clerk. And so we 15 that | would use very clearly for Tammy Pugh.
16 entered into -- y'all were kind enough fo allow 16 She seemed overwhelmed with what she was
17 a contract to be entered into, and she came for 17 supposed to understand and what she was supposed
18 two or three months, | believe, and we developed 18 to do, and | think because of that the staff
19 that filing system. She walked around that 19 suffered in not understanding -- you know, not
20 office and said what are these files, what are 20 getting the proper training, not getting the
21 these files. Y'all, we got to get them done. 21 proper leadership, just a pure lack of
22 Work towards getting some procedures that kept 22 leadership. Those are my thoughts. Sorry.
23 this backlog from happening and it really got a 23 Q. Well, | have a few more questions for you.
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Page 81
A. Okay.

Q. You mentioned telling Ms. Pugh about some
things that needed to be done. Did you ever
specify any lime-sensitive issues, and did you

have any trouble with time-sensitive issues with

her specifically?

A. What ! often experienced with Tammy is that
-- and | wished so much over the years -- the
couple of years almost that I've been there, |

=N U m w N
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Page 83
hunters come from. And | often would be asked

to give them another 90 days. You know, motion
to extend the time before we would forfeit that
bond and make them pay i, and we would do that
all the time. We extend ~- give them 90 more
days to go find the defendant and get them
turned in. None of that was happening here
hecause there was no effort to go against these
bonding companies,

10 wish 1 had dealt with e-mails more instead of 10 Other things like that where the driver's
11 telling her personaily. You know, just one on 11 license -- notices to the Department of Public
12 one | would say, Tammy, we need to do this, and 12 Satisfy that people failed to show up on their
13 she wouldn't disagree with me. It's just that 13 traffic tickets were not being sent in. | asked
14 F'd come back the next week or [ would see her 14 Tammy about that and she explainad to me that
15 and no progress whatsoever on it. 15 she thought that they weren't supposed fo be
16 And | asked her about the bond forfeitures, 16 doing that hecause at one point during COVID
17 and | was so surprised that there were not any 17 there had been some instruction to back off of
18 real bond forfeitures. if you're a bonding 18 that. Well, all of the cities around us were
19 company in Millbrook, you take somebody’s money 19 doing it. Prattville you couldn't get your
20 to sign on their bond that if they don't show up 20 driver's license reinstated without paying your
21 in court you, as a bonding company, have got to 21 tickets in Prattville, without paying them in
22 pay that bond to the court. Nohody was going 22 Wetumpka, without paying them in Montgomery, but
23 after them for it. You didn't have any risk as 23 you didn't have to pay them In Miltbrook because
Page B2 pPage 84
1 a bonding company in Millbrook. If you made 1 we had not sent a notice in on you. Long after
2 somebody's bond, you didn't make any effort -- 2 that -- if there was a period of time under
3 didn't need to make any effort to go and find 3 COVID that that was not being allowed, it
4 them because they were never going to forfeit 4 certainly ended at some point way before now,
5 you. They were never going to make you pay that 5 and we have just recently in the last few months
6 $1,000 or whatever that bond amount was. | 6 --| think Tamimy instructed her employees to
1 talked to her about that. 1 said, Why aren't we 7 start sending in the notices of suspension to
8 doing that. She said, Well, you know -- | don't & suspend somebody’s license because they didn't
% know if she said it on that particular issue 9 show up on a ticket or pay a ticket in
10 that we used fo do it or they just didn't do it. 1¢ Millbrook.
11 And | believe since she has been gone that Becky 11 Q. On the other side of the suspension, does
12 Waits has actually -- as | understand it, the 12 the department sometimes issue release letters
13 mayor could probably speak to this more than | 13 on driver's license?
14 gould -~ forfeited on over $30,000 worth of cash 14 A, Well, we issue.
15 bonds that were just sitting there. But no 15 (4. Youissue?
16 honding company had any risk of honding out 16 A. Yeah. We issue a clearance so that they
17 anybody because they were never going to have to 17 can get their license reinstated.
18 bring that person in, 18 Q. Have you had any issues with Ms. Pugh
19 Inn my experience as a judge, bonding 19 regarding release letters that went out that in
20 companies were -~ | don't want to say under the 20 your opinion should not have gone out?
21 gun that wouldn't be appropriate, but they were 21 A, | personally don't know about that. |
22 pushed. if you bonded this person out, you 22 heard the comments that that might have
23 hetter get them into court, That's where bounty 23 happened, but | can't speak that and | wouldn't
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1 want to say that because [ don't know it 1 to think how to putf this. | hadn't been here
2 personally. 2 very long at all when | knew there was a problem
3 Q. Ckay. You did mention -- you said that Kim 3 there, and it was such a problem that not only
4 could not leave the courtroom and there were 4 would the employees talk with me privately about

L2

{imes that we needed to see if Tammy was still
there. To your knowledge, was Ms. Pugh ever
asked to be present at court during your docket?

A. One of the first things she said tome in

our very first meeting, when [ came over to meet

certain things that were going on or happening,
but they would literally criticize her and had

-~ I'm sorry, Kim. | actually admonished them.
Please stop taiking negatively about Tammy.
They would do it in front of a police officer,

~d

back in the back. Not in the courtroom but back
in the back offering assistance back there or if
the other person wasi't there, filling in doing

-1

10 here after | had been appointed and sworn in, 10 and | know it was just something that was going
11 she told me -- she said, | don't go to court. 11 on, and no matter how justified it was | felt
12 I've done my time. Kim will be in there with 12 like it was going -- we were never going to have
13 you. And [ took it just as the way it was, and 13 a chance to have a good team spirit here if they
14 go | didn't tell her she needed to be in court. 14 didn't stop that. But they weren't vicious. [t
15 |n fact, she would [eave at 5:00 or maybe even 15 was little comments and things in front of
16 hefore on those court dates. While we're all 16 others. They felt like she wasn’t carrying her
17 doing court, she would go on home. At some 17 lpad. That's one of the things they talked with
18 point -- and I'm not sure exactly how this came 18 me about. That everything that was asked of her
19 to be. Maybe the mayor can remember -- | 19 immediately got turned around and put on their
20 helieve he asked me and [ said, No, she's not in 20 desk -- put on them. That when we were in court
21 court. She told me she doesn't do court 21 that the files would -- one of the things that |
22 anymore. And he instructed her -- this was 22 saw in Prattville was that someone from the
23 about a year into my time here -- instructed her 23 clerk's office would come into the courtroom
Page 86 Page B8
1 she's to be in court and to stay until court is 1 about every 30 minutes and take the stack of
2 over and that really helped bacause that gave us 2 files that had been processed, take them back
3 one more person that could run around and get 3 into the clerk’s office, and work on them,
4 the things that needed to be done, get a file if 4 finish them that night. They would actually be
5 it was missing or whatever. She has been --in 5 processed that night or that day. And | had
6 the final months that she was there, she’s been 6 said something to Tammy. [said, If you could

just come in and get these files and mayhbe we

8 could go ahead and start processing them.

They're able to do that in Prattville. Maybe we

10 it all. 10 gould here. And so for the first few nights

11 Q. You covered many things that | had 11 after | went to Prattville and asked that of

12 guestions about, but one thing in particular | 12 her, she came in about every 30 minutes and got

13 want to ask you about or one of the last things 13 the files but instead of processing them, as |

14 | want to ask you about in particular would be 14 was told, she was putting them on somebody

15 the relationship between Ms. Pugh and the 15 else's desk, and | know it's busy back there

16 gmployees in her office. You had an opportunity 16 because people are coming out to pay. You might

17 to observe and form an opinion of the 17 not he able to do those files, and | wouldn't

18 relationship between Ms. Pugh and some of the is expect the files to be done completely that

19 employees that are either there now or have been 19 night. But instead of trying, they were just

20 through there. Did any of the employee -- go 20 simply put on somebody else's desk. Those are

21 ahead. | cutyou off. | asked you a question 21 the kind of complaints that were expressed to me

22 and then cut you off. 22 and the frustration that those employees felt.

23 A. | was letting you finish it and 'm trying 23 1t was -- she just wastr't attuned to their needs
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or how it was happening.

| would rather not get into some of the
persconal things that were said to me, but |
found that when | would arrive in court, on
Thursday's when | would come, | got to where |
came in early because oftentimes there might be
somebody that needed to talk with me about a
case or whatever, but often times those
conversations turned to the problems in the

ot

and give it to Kim, and if Kim was in charge of
2 all of the trial files, then Tammy wouldn't he
3 tied up with these lawyers that she's

=

complaining about all day long and we did.
Becky moved it to Kim but it didn't change. It
was still you walk in her office and it was just
covered with things.

Another thing was cases that were remanned

oW I &

back from circuit court. If somebody appeals --

10 office. | felt like | wouid talk o Tammy about 10 and they often appeal here because often times
11 jt. I would sit Tammy down in my office three 11 they're appealing our cases to take them to

12 or four times and she tearfully expressed to me 12 circuit court where they have diversion programs
13 she didn't know why everybody was against her 13 where they can go into diversion pragrams. At
14 and spoke as if though she were the victim of 14 some point, this council may want to consider an
15 peopie not understanding here, whether it was 15 ordinance that would establish a diversion

16 the police department or her employees. And | 16 program under certain guidelines, but we don't
17 fried to tell her what | feit like they had 17 have it right now. When | got here, there was

13 expressed to me that they had told me that they 18 diversion being done, but it was not being done
1% didn't fell like she was earrying her load, that 19 with your authority and with an ordinance, so |
20 she was dumping on them, and that, yes, she's in 20 stopped it, and so therefore we end up with a

21 charge and she choses what people do and their 21 whole lot of appeals.

22 role in the office, but the way they described 22 Those appeais would go to circuit court,

23 i to me it wasn't fair and they were feefing 23 and if the defendant does not show up -- let's

£y

Page 90
that, so. And | would talk to Tammy about it,

and she was never disrespectful; never refused.
It's just she didn't get it or didn't take the
actions to change it. |said, Maybe Tammy if

Page 92
1 say often times it would be when I've given jail

time. You got 48 hours to serve in jall of
their jail sentence. They would appeal that

P P R 6 ]

night to get out of jail. It would go over to

5 you were to help them understand that you've got 5 ¢ircuit court and they wouldn’t even show up for
¢ all those things in here that you're having to 6 their hearing over there. Well, the circuit
7 do, administrative things or whatever, help them 7 court judge remands it back te us, and those
8 understand. 8 files were just stacking up and they -- you
9 One of the things when | first was there 9 know, these people have jait time to serve.
10 and talking to Tammy and | would try to figure 10 They've got fines to pay. And until |
i1 out why in the world we're so far behind on i1 intervened there just wasn't much being done
12 getting files worked and so forth, 1 constantly 12 about that. And]can't say because | wasn't
13 heard about COVID, but | also heard her complain t3 around before COVID but so many of the things
14 about dealing with attorneys. All day long 14 that | asked Tammy about she said, Oh, welf
15 ghe's dealing with attorneys. Her desk wouid be 15 before COVID we did that. We used to do that.
16 just covered with things. She says, I'm always 16 We used to do that. And so, you know, i just
17 dealing with these attorneys. They're wanting 17 wanted to know what it would take to get us back
18 continuances or they're wanting this or wanting 18 doing it right, and it just seemed to be | would
12 that, and so finally | said -- when Becky came, 19 talk with her about it, and then it would just
20 | said, Becky, maybe we could take those -- 20 melt away and I'd ask her again and it was just,
21 these will always be the cases that are 21 Oh, yeah -- you know, it would just bhe
22 scheduled for trial that you deal with the 22 forgotten.
23 attorneys on. |said, Maybe we can take that 23 (. You mentioned speaking with some of the
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employees. Would they make special trips to

your office to talk to you or was it in passing

or?

A. 1would say that there were probably --

well, it depends. One of the last employees

that we had wanted to complain a whole lot to
me. But some of the previous employees -- the
one that were here when | got here -- would come
to my office and talk with me, and, you know, it

1 by 10:30 or 11:00, maybe 11:30 at the latest.
Q. Couple hours before court to go aver your

W N

records?

e

Yes.

And then court started at 1:007

1:30.

1:307

Uh-huth.

And thern you had court until some times

o o
FPOorFPLOP

9 Q.

10 might start off being a conversation about 10 8:00, 9:00, or 10:00 at night?

11 something else, but then it would be, weli, you 11 A, Oh, no. Sometimes 1:00 or 2:00 in the

12 know, Tammy, and seo they would talk with me 12 morning.

13 about, you know, how bhad it was, and [ can 13 Q. Okay.

14 remember saying to them, Y'ali, please keep your 14 A, When | first got here. it hasn't been that

15 heads up. Maybe one day it will get better. 15 bad in a while.

16 We're working on it. Trying to keep the morale 16 Q. So all these -~ you weren't here during the

17 up because it was just -- they appeared to be 17 week very much to observe what was going on in

18 miserable. And as much as they complained, | 18 the clerk's office, were you?

19 knew they had to be. And | cared -- | wanted 19 A. No, l wasn't.

20 their job to be hetter. [ wanted the - | 20 Q. And what you have testified to is what

21 cannot tell you what it can mean to a court 21 people would come in and tell you?

22 gystem if there is team spirit, if people enjoy 22 A. Well, | testified to a lot of things. My

23 coming to work, if they have a pride -- 1 wanted 23 encounters with Tammy and my -- you know,

Page 94 Page 96

1 them to have a pride in how we do it. ['d love 1 suggestions and expressions and directions to
2 to hear that some cther court came to see us to 2 her, but, yes.
3 see if they could learn from us how to do it, 3 Q. When you would point out something, she
4 and i just felt like Millbrook deserved that. 4 tried to do it?
5 We reached a point -- our population has reached 5 A. Yes. Most of the time she would indicate
6 the point that we shouldn't be some podunk & that she would work in that direction. The
T court. | just felt that way. 7 problem was the follow through and not every
g MR. COURTNEY: Ithink that's ali | 8 time, Mr. DeBardelahen. Often times it was --
2 have for right now. 9 she did fine on certain things.

10 MR. DEBARDELABEN: | have a few. 10 3. Yes, ma'am. And you said that -- | think

11 EXAMINATION 11 you said since you got here there had been a lot

12 BY MR. DEBARDELABEN: 12 more appeals to the circuit court, and | was one

13 Q. Your Honor, you say you came in ane day a 13 that appealed it because | could get pretrial

14 week? t4 diversion. They didn't offer it. But when

15 A, Well, for court | came in one day a week, 15 there is an appeal like that, it creates a lot

16 but | might drop by to sign things or come in 16 more work for the clerk, doesn't it?

17 more often, but, yeah, one day a week was my 17 A, It does. itdoes,

18 role. 18 . And they have to do, what, two copies, one

19 Q. And approximately what time would you get 19 for the attorney, one for the prosecutor, and

20 in? 20 then they keep a copy?

21 A, Inthe mornings? 2 A. That's correct.

22 Q. Yeah. 22 Q. And then they have to keep -- so when the

23 A. Court started at 1:30, and I'm usually here 23 appeals go up, it creates more work?
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1 A, ltdoes. 1 get an annual evaluation, do you do Ms. Pughs?
2 Q. So while the appeals are going up -- and | 2 A, No. Wasn't my role.
3 understand you want these certain changes -- 3 Q. While you have been municipal judge, how
4 they're getting more work put on them, and it's 4 often did Mr. Kelly come to court and observe?
5 kind of -- and they say, Well, what do we do? 5 A. Idon't believe he did.
& A. I'm sure ] changed all of their lives 6 Q. Okay.
7 dramatically, but, yeah, 7 A. But, now, | will say, though, that | have
8 Q. Right. And you mentioned going to the 8 talked with him on several occasions about my
% municipal court over in Prattville. | go over % concerns.
10 there occasionally. They have court in the 10 Q. Right. And were you aware that in 2020 --
11 mornings too, don't they? 11 well, in --{ will ask you this way because |
12 A. They start in the mornings, yes. 12 think this is a fair question. Were you aware
13 . And they have it some time more than once a 13 that in July 23rd, 2019, Mayor Kelly gave
14 week, don't they? 14 Ms, Tammy Pugh a written warning.
15 A. |think it's once a week. 15 A, |wasn't here so | don't know.
16 Q. Butthey start in the mornings and -- 16 Q. Youweren't here. Okay.
17 A. Go all day. 17 Were you aware after that written warning
18 Q. But they usually don't go late at night, 18 was given in 2020 that Mayor Kelly approved an
12 sometimes they do? 1% annual evaluation performance evaluation, |
20 A, | believe that's correct. 20 think they calt it, for Ms. Pugh that said
21 Q. Sometimes we all do that. 21 achieved expectations. She was achieving them.
22 A, Yeah. 22 Were you aware of that?
23 . Don't get the district judge of Eimore 23 A, Only from hearing that from you.
Page 98 Page 100

—
s

County of a domestic case. He'll keep you there Q. Okay. Were you aware in 2021 there was one
that got in Ms. Pugh's file, and that's why |

asked the chief about it. He says it goes back

until 3:00 in the morning, and | admire y'all
for that.
But I'm getling now -- you know, you

LN S ¢
LT P B ]

to the human resources and they do what they're

w
w

mentioned due process. | have been harping on. supposed to and there was one in 2022 that shows

o

It's real important for an employee to have due
process, isn't i? 7 Should she be able to rely on her annual

her approving achieving expectations aiso.

- &

[=)

g A, It sureis. evaluations?

9 Q. And did you at any time when you met with % A. You know, certainly it would be beneficial
10 Ms, Pugh give her any type of written 10 if those annual evaluations for all employees In
11 instruction, any write-up and say if you don't 11 government service were more honest. | mean, |
12 - you got to do this. If you don't do this, 12 did a number of them when | was serving in
13 it's going to be consequences? t3 Montgomery. And, let me say this, that often
14 A. No. 14 times you can talk with your employee about a
15 Q. Are you aware -~ you've gone over -- Now, 15 matter but yet not punish them by putting it in
16 et me ask you this way, Judge: Most of your 16 an evaiuation, which could keep them from
17 background is in criminal law, isn't i, not 17 getting some type of merit raise. You don't
18 civii? 18 want to kill the spirit of somehody that you're
19 A, It was equal until | - 13 hoping is going to do better and do hetter. |
20 ). Did you do much employment law? 20 am aware from my conversations with the mayor
21 A. No, notin district court. We don't have 21 that there have been a number of times that he's
2z it 22 talked with Tammy since { have been here that he
23 Q. That's what | thought. When an employee 23 sat her down and talked with her.
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10
11

Q. Are you aware that the personnel policies

of City of Millbrook when you have an informal
discussion and verbal counseling that the
supervisor shall complete a memo that identified
the date, time, substance, and response to this
meeting?

A. I'm not familiar with all of the

intricacies of the personnel manual.

Q. Okay. Wouldn't you agree that every
employee is held to the standard in a personnel
manual? They should be held to those standards?

-l o O W N

oW

10
11

an order when people are put an probation,
they're well aware. 1told them before the
courtroom. ftold them in a room full of

people. They're well aware of what their
obligations are but it's not in writing.

A. ldon'tthink there is any comparison.
We're talking about a person's liberty, being
locked up in jail.

Q. Yes, ma'am. And here we're talking about a
person's livelihood where she has given 20 years
to this city for. No, you get a liberly of

12 A. Well, | would assuma. 12 locking up in jail for maybe 30 days. You're
13 Q. And all empfoyees should be treated alike? 13 taking her completely livelihoad and her
14 A. |would agree with that. 14 retirement away from here. They're two
15 Q. And if they are supposed to be putting any 15 different things.
16 informal discussion or verbal counseling they're 16 A. My pointis, Mr. DeBardelaben, | don't
17 supposed to be making a memo that identified the 17 think there’s ever heen any question in Tammy
18 date, time, substance, and response to the 18 Pugh's mind about what the problems have heen
19 meeting. H says supposed to be doing that then 19 with her empioyment.
20 and it's not done then did it happen? If the 20 Q. Well, ma’am, if | come in and look at her
21 mayor didn't do it, then he's not following 21 personne! file, and she's supposed to be able fo
22 rules, is he? And | have no way as her 22 agree with it, and it goes on and it says, oh,
23 representative to question on these mestings 23 there wasn't any more action taken, it must be
Page 102 Page 104
1 because the rules of this municipality for the 1 fine, and the next year she is achieving
2 personnel -- for the employee wasn't followed, 2 expectation, how is she supposed say, okay,
3 doit? 3 something different now?
4 A, | will say, Mr. DeBardelaben, that ] am 4 A. All I'm saying -- and | probably am not the
5 firmly convinced that Ms. Pugh had been -- had 5 best witness on this subject because | have not
& these issues raised with her. She even made 6 been in the meetings with the mayor and Tammy
1 reference to them when | was talking with her 7 Pugh or others that might have addressed these
8 about conversations with the mayor. | don't & matters with her. I'm just telling you that my
9 think that a case could be made that Ms. Pugh 9 conversations with her caused me to think that
10 didn't understand that she was having some 10 she understood what was being said about her,
11 problems with the way she was working with her 11 whether she agreed or not, and 1 am aware of the
12 employees as well as getting her job done. 12 fact that she met with the mayor because after
13 Q. Well, that's true. But the rules are to be 13 she would meet with the mayor, the mayor would
14 followed aren't they? 14 share with me how he had discussed it with her,
15 A. Rules are rules. 15 and we both hoped that she would do better. We
16 Q. And they should be followed, and if the 16 constantly hoped that she would do better.
17 rules aren't followed, then she didn't get due 17 Q. Ma‘am, were those counseling sessions with
18 process, did she? 18 the mayor?
19 A. lwouldn't say that because | think she is 19 A. ldon't know. You'll just have to ask the
2¢ well aware and certainly since this -- all of 20 mayor.
21 these hearings started, she has been made aware 21 Q. Okay. Butwe have to have things -- but
22 of what the problems have been. 22 gven the mayor has to follow personnel policy,
23 Q. Weli, Your Honor, if you go back to you, on 23 doesn't he?
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1 A, As you say, Mr. DeBardelaben. 1 point in just a second. The chief was kind
2 Q. Well, no, ma'am. I'mjust -- 2 enough to make it possible for me to have some
3 A, I'mjust. 3 records, but | discovered that one of the
1 Q. Ididn't make them. I'm just trying fo go 4 solutions that might work -- well, first of alf,

W

5 by the rules.
6 MR. GAY: This is being
argumentative. Let's move on.

[ asked Tammy about NCIC. She said she at one

(=23

time had been certified and at one time had

-3
i

access to it. And | said, Well, Tammy, we need

8 Do you have any other questions 8 to get It back. I've got to have records, |
& for the witness? 9 cannot sentence these people not knowing whether
10 BY MR. DEBARDELABEN: 10 they're a repeat offender or whether this is
11 Q. You mentioned wanting her fo go lo 11 their first time ever, and so she said she would
12 Prattville to review that system over in 12 doit. Well, that was one of the ones that got
13 Prattville, and | think you testified last time 13 dragged. | called. They're supposed to get
14 that Prattville is kind of an experimental 14 pback to me. | haven't heard back. That's how
15 situation. They're trying -- and the courts -- 15 it went for weeks and weeks and months. Then
16 Pm going o paraphrase what you said and please 16 |aterin - maybe -- [ don't know. If | had to
17 correct me. That the AOC is using Prattville to 17 say six to eight months later, i started
18 get a -- I'm going to use the word — 1% thinking if we were to get on the state system,
1% comprehensive municipal court system for the 19 Alacourt, that we would have access -- | mean,
20 state. Am 1 wrong on that? 20 we would have a computer system that would
21 A, Let me explain it hecause what she would 21 generate orders like they do in Prattvilie. It
22 have seen in Prattville had she watched their 22 would do so much for us that our system is not
23 court or spent more time over there and what ! 23 doing for us because | asked Tammy -- we need to
Page 106 Page 108

ok

1 have saw and was just excited about was how that be able to generate orders.

system worked, and 'm not talking about the 2 Well, ended up we got the guy that is over

W N
w

computer. I'm falking about the employees, how our software to scan my orders in, but they

N

4 everybody knew what they were supposed to do,
5 how they had all the files easy to find. There
& weren't stacks of files anywhere. Those are the

still were not populating it into the system.
i'd say $600 fine on the DUI. Somebody had to
still go back to the office and type ali of that

LA o]

7 kind of things | was excited about. 7 in because it was only in a scanned order. So
8 When I first came, as the chief mentioned, 8 I'm thinking maybe we need to go to the Alacourt
9 1 did not have access to criminal records. | 5 system and this became my mission, so to speak.
10 have somehody in front of me that stolen from 1¢ fthought mayhe if we could do that --
11 Walmart. | want to know if that person has 11 So | get in touch with AQC. | talk ali the
12 stolen before. | want to know if that person 12 way fo top to the director of Administrative
13 has drug convictions before because if they have 13 Office of Courts. He said | will be thrilled
14 we'll pop a drug test and find out if we're 14 for you to have that. We're trying to establish
15 dealing with a meth addict who's stealing from 15 a --we're close to establishing a municipal
16 Walmart, and I'm going to sentence that person i6 Alacourt. He said it's going to be the best
17 differently than someone who made a one-time 17 there is, but we're not quite ready with it yet,
18 mistake thinking they're going fo outsmart the 18 and | would suggest that you hoid off on going
19 self-scanners at Walmart. 15 with the state court system -- I'm taiking about
20 So my point being that through not having 20 the software. The state court software until we
21 those records | was -- | was really feeling 21 get that municipal product ready, and | said
22 ineffective. Chief was kind enough to make it 22 okay. Sol was led to believe that it wouldn't
23 possible for me, and I'm going to come to your 23 be long. If wouldn't be long. Well, come to
Cite, LLC
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find out it, it was several months later. But
during that time 1 said to Tammy -- | said,
Lock, don't put the -- it had been months now
that | had wanted her to get NCIC, but there is
a cost to NCIC. | said, Let's hold off just a
little hit. If we can get on Alacourt, not only
will it work to give us a lot of other things

that will improve our system, but it would -- we

LS S T V)

e I = B ¥

yes Prattville, is still on that new municipal
system for traffic court. 1t has not been
everything they dreamed it would be, but it has
fit into their system well and they're still a
Singer sewing machine. They are still doing it
right.

Q. And even when you were trying to find out
about it, they kept on putting you off a little

9 would be able to look on Alacourt and see every 9 bit at AOC?
10 case that person had ever had in the state court 10 A. Well, AOC just hadn't had it established -~
11 gystem as well as most of the municipalities 11 Q. Right.
12 that were tied in using that system currently. i2 A, - yet. They kept saying you're probably
i3 It would have served my purposes of finding out 13 not going to want to get on our old system. You
14 if that was that person's first arrest, and so 14 probably want to wait and get on this new
15 that was fine. For a while she held off NCIC. 15 gystem.
16 It was fine with me. Then after discovering 16 Q. Onthe new system?
17 that Prattville had gone onto that new municipal 17 A, They thought it would come faster than it
18 program. So far they had only created it for 18 did, and when it finally did get here and
12 traffic court. Well, that wasn't going to do 19 Prattville started using it, it was for the
20 that much good for us, and they seemed to be 20 traffic court only. It didn't effect
21 somewhat of a guinea pig on it, so [ said -- | 21 misdemeanors yet.
22 finally just said, Let's see what our system 2z Q. When you were finally able to get your
23 would do if we could work with the guy that 23 software perscen over from Auburn, you got some
Page 110 Page 112
1 established our software. It's a guy over in 1 relief on what this sytem could do?
2 Auburn, and ! asked him to come over. He sat 2 A. And | said I'm fine with staying with i,
3 down with us one day and he made such 3 and | think that gave them some relief because
4 jmprovements in our software based on that 4 they didn't want to have to [earn a new system
5 meeting that | was willing to say, Okay, let's 5 and | understooed that.
6 leave the state system alone, let's go back to 6 Q. And then things -- and Ms. Pugh worked with
7 getting NCIC and getting -- and staying on our 7 you on that as best she could do, didn't she?
8 program with these new improvements that this & A. Yes, she did.
9 Daryl Rotta out of Auburn had come over and was 9 Q. And it appears that she didgn't know what
10 willing to make for us. 10 was available there, did she, to get?
11 | was a little disappointed that it took me 11 A. No.
12 bringing us to that point. | felf iike that was 12 Q. And --
13 something -- | feel like that system already 13 A. But we did, and once we got him over here,
14 could do things for the staff here, but also the 14 we did get those changes.
15 changes that we were able to make. Maybe ] 15 Q. And it has golten betler?
16 should have pushed it a lot earlier, but | had ie A, AndI'm satisfied with the system we're on
17 sort of focused on going to the Alacourt system 17 now. | think one day we probably would want to
18 for a while. 18 go to Alacourt Municipal, but it's not ready for
19 So once we got back to we got to get NCIC, 19 us yet, and [ don’t think our coutrt is the one
20 there was a little drag, but she did get NCIC 20 that needs to be a guinea pig.
21 after that, and it has made all the difference 21 Q. Well, from a practicing attorney's
22 in the world. 1 now have a criminal history on 22 standpoint, it sure is nice to hit that buiton
23 every serious misdemeanor case available, But, 23 and send your pleading.
Cite, LLC
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1 So what I'm hearing from you or what you're 1 and | think you explained people are appealing
2 saying, and correct me if wrong, when you got 2 up -~ like me -- to get people on pretriai
3 here, this place was run like it was run 40 3 diversion and you couldn't do that.
4 years ago? 4 A, Right.
5 A. Yeah. 5 Q. And it creates a lot -- all of a sudden she
6 Q. And it had never had been brought up to 6 got a lot more work and a change in the system
7 speed? It hadn't been changed, it hadn'i been 7 and a lot of more pressure put on her, didn't
8 updated? 8 she?
2 A. Well, I don't know if that's completely 9 A. There were a lot of changes, yes, but they
10 true because certainly the software we had 10 -- the changes -- once we got through the
11 wasn't available 40 years ago. 11 process and started having orders available and
12 Q. Mo, it wasn't available. But it's -- 12 gach of these things developed to a certain
13 A. And there were some things that were good 13 point it shouldn't have been that overwhelming
14 the way it was being done within that software, 14 to her.
15 80, no, there were some good things. 15 Q. Well, and you still -- even today you still
16 Q. And Ms. Pugh had work for 20 years under 16 got your situation for all of these appeais
17 that one system under the one judge? 17 because you don't have pretrial diversion?
18 A, Well, [ don't know how long that system had 18 A, Right. And I'm not against having it.
19 bheen there, but she had been under that one 12 It's just that the City Council will need to
20 judge, yes. 20 approve.
21 Q. And -- 21 Q. Yes, ma'am. They got to do the orders and
22 A, And | think, you know, burs out is going to 22 stuff. But that also puts a lot more pressure
23 happen to anybody. And as a practicing 23 on the clerk's office to get them out, keep up
Page 114 Page 116
1 attorney, you know, Ben had a lot of stuff on 1 with it, to make the copies?
2 him and towards the end | think his healih was 2 A. Well, just a second. Let me point out that
3 bad. And here's one thing | noticed is that 3 without pretrial diversion you don't have all of
4 when she was serving under Judge Pool, there was 4 that. If somebody is put on pretrial diversion,
5 a lot more independence for her to do it the way 5 they are to be watched more closely than
6 she wanted to do it. When | came in, there were 6 probation because they've been given a real
7 problems that under the law needed to be changed 7 henefit. This case will be dismissed if you do
8 and there were some resistance to that. 8 these things.
9 Although she wasn't disrespectful in any 9 Q. Yes, ma'am.
10 resistance, it just -~ 1 mean, until -- almost 10 A, Pretrial diversion will require far more
11 to her last day here almost she was still going 11 supervision than probation or more work than an
12 about orders. We're having to do all of these 12 appeal. Once you do an appeal, gone.
13 orders, you know, and it is so -- such as you 13 Q. And it produces more income for the City so
14 know and most folks in the legal system know, 14 they can get more peaple in the clerk’s office
15 that orders are an ahsolute part of court 15 to handle the pretrial diversion?
16 process. 16 A, Itdoes. We've lost some income as a
17 . Yes, ma'am. 17 result of not having pretrial. And 1've said
18 A, Butlfelt like | still had to continually 18 I'm willing to do it. It's just that it needs
19 convince her that 1 was right in that we needead 19 to be developed and presented to the council.
20 orders. 20 Q. It pays for itself and makes money, doesn't
21 Q. Butshe was trying to improve, but you do 21 jt?
22 have to -- | think you said when you got here we 22 A, Yeah. But that's not the purpose.
23 got a lot more appeals. I'm not going to say - 23 Q. That's not the purpose.
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A. No.
Q. Butit's not something the City really has
to fund?

4 A, No. Butitcan be - it can be abused,

I'li tell you that.
Q. Yes, ma'am.
MR. DEBARDELABEN: That's all.
MR, COURTNEY: One quick followup,
Judge.
REEXAMINATION
BY MR. COURTNEY:
Q. You had discussed earlier different
folks -- different people that worked in the

=~ o

W

i0
11
iz
i3

MR. GAY: Any further questions?
MR. COURTNEY: | have nathing
further for Judge Bright,
MR. GAY: Excuse me. We're going to
take a five-minute short recess.
(Short break.)
MR. GAY: Would you please call your
next witness?
MR. COURTNEY: I call Mayor Al
Keliy.
MAYOR AL KELLY,
the witness, who was previously sworn,
testified as follows:

14 department. Since you've been there, have you 14 EXAMINATION
15 detected any issues with excessive turnover in 15 BY MR. COURTNEY:
16 that department? 16 Q. Good evening, Mayor.
17 A, [ came in August of 2020, and we have hired 17 A, Good evening.
18 and lost two employees from the office both of 18 Q. Allright. I'm going to get right to the
19 whom complained strongly about the leadership 19 issues that we're here for; specifically,
20 being the reason. Well, one of them actually 20 Ms. Tammy Pugh. Okay.
21 was terminated, but the whole time she was here 21 During her employment and during your ime
22 she complained about the leadership. 22 as mayor have you counseled and/or had sessions
23 MR. COURTNEY: Thank you. | don't 23 with Ms. Pugh regarding her job parformance?
Page 118 Page 120
i have anything further. 1 A. Yes, | have on several occasions.
2 Mr. DeBardelaben, do you have 2 Q. Okay. Any idea how many?
3 anything further? 3 A. | would probably say eight or nine.
4 MR. DEBARDELABEN: Just one. 1 Q. Okay. And what are the subjects that you
5 REEXAMINATION 5 would have to cover?
6 BY MR. DEBARDELABEN: 6 A. It's typically been the subjects of the
7 Q. One was terminated? 7 employees, the lack of leadership within the
8 A. Uh-heuh. 8 gourt personnel. Many times the employees of
9 Q. Was she terminated after Ms. Pugh left? 9 the court department would either come to me
10 A. About the same time, | think. 'm not 10 personally or come to the HR department to
11 sure. | wasn't involved in the actual 11 discuss problems with Tammy. [ have -- | would
12 terminations, but! -- it was about the same 12 cail Tammy in and we would talk, | think -1
13 time. They both left on the same day and didn't 13 seem to remember a session where [ even talked
14 gome back. | know that. 14 to all of them at the same time, the empioyees,
15 Q. Okay. So you actually fost when you been 15 Tammy, the whole nine yards all at one time,
16 here in that period fwo employees? 16 trying to get some -- some morale huild up in
17 A. Uh-huh. 17 the court department. It was awful. The lack
1% Q. And you don't know what the turnover was 18 of leadership, the lack of training. The people
1% before you came? 19 that would come to HR and fo me to just complain
20 A. No, idon't. | mean, | know there was, but 20 on Tammy, her attitude, the way she freated
21 1don't know what it was. 1can't speak to 21 them, what was going on in there. It just got
22 that. 22 to the point where | just had to sit down and
23 MR. DEBARDELABEN: Thats all, 23 talk to her more than once. [ tried to give her
Cite, LLC
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1 every opportunity. 1 attitude and not been able to deal with her.
2 Yeah, these evaluations. Okay. |1 mean, 2 There was a lot of things mentioned about
3 the -~ l try to give everybody an opportunity to 3 Ben Pool. You know, it wasn't any problem when

[

~I &

oo oo

10

make a good living to do what they need to do.

| don't put down every time I talk to a
department head. | don't go stuff it in his
personnel file. 1 don't know of any mayor --|
don't know of any CEO that does anywhere. The
-- | probably had many occasions to discipline
Chief Johnson both either in my office or in my

A

[43]

woom - oy

10

Ben Pool was here. Ben Pooi would call me and
we would talk, and Ben would say, Well, it's
just Tammy, you know, so we just kind of let it
go kind of thing. It was working okay. We were
getting by. No, we didn't have the court system
that Judge Bright imagined when she got in
there. And once she opened that vision to me, |

11 house. it's -- you know, | do't go run and put 11 gould see different in the court depariment of
12 it in his personnei file, 12 what we had versus what we could have and that's
i3 There's not a department head one that | 13 where | try to strive on every department. They
14 never said something to and say let's do it this 14 get the best equipment, the best training they
15 way, let's do it that way, 1 don't like the way 15 can get anywhere. | don't do it any different
16 this Is going, | don't like the way that's 16 with anybody else.
17 going, we need to do this, we need to do that. 17 There was a mention of -- just there again
18 Every one of them with the exception of the 18 just rambling again about the bond forfeitures.
19 court department has followed through. We have 19 | signed a check the other day that was brought
20 a great team of workers. We have a great team 20 to me by our GEO and that was -- came out of the
21 morale throughout the City. | got nobody that 21 court system on cash bond forfeitures. If you
22 wants to deal with the court department. | 22 don't know what a cash bond forfeiture is, what
23 mean, the -- it got kind of a montage here of 23 that is and [ -- listen, I'm learning more about
Page 122 Page 124
T things that [ will talk to if you want me to. 1 courts in the last two months than | have
2 Q. Pleasedo. 2 learned in the last ten years. Believe me. |
3 A, You know, it's been brought up during the 3 promise you. | do not -- | don't know how to
4 night and it's kind of - | try to even try to 4 pave a street and | don't know how to run a
5 one, two, three, four it, but that don't work. 5 court, okay, but we make sure that it gets done,
6 Like | said on the evaluations, I started 6 Gash bond forfeitures is when you get arrested,
7 self-evaluations a fong time ago. You know, 7 you get a DUI, or you get in jail for some
8 this mayor is a part-time job. A lot of times | & reason or another and you have to put up $500
9 don't have time to do each and every evaluation, 9 cash bond. Okay. You put up $500 cash money.
16 | talk to department heads about doing them, | 10 Am | explaining this right so far? i you show
11 try my best to get those employees those raises. 11 up in court, you get your $500 back. If you
12 | try my best to handle the situation with them 12 don't show up in court, that money is forfeited;
13 on a personal basis in my office where we can 13 am [ correct?
14 talk, where we can discuss, where | can 14 MR. GAY: Judge, that's a nod, is
15 complain, fuss, or whatever it may be, and they 15 that a yes or no?
16 can respond alike. | don't do it any different i6 JUDGE BRIGHT: Yes.
17 with court than | do with anybody else. It's 17 MR. GAY: That was a yes, for the
ig all treated the same. 18 record.
19 There's been a lot of turnover. | think 19 THE WITNESS: That money is
20 somebody said -- 1 think Judge Bright said one 20 forfeited. Our CEQ in some e-mails to Tammy on
21 ortwo. There's been several more than that. 21 two different occasions asked to go into the
22 We've got exit interviews in those files from 22 cash bond account because if had gotten over
23 employees who have quit because of Tammy and her |23 $100,000 of money in that account that we can't
Cite, LLC
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1 touch, okay, until that money is forfeited. No 1 City of Millbrook made no effort to go and get
2 response on the e-mail. Did it again. No 2 those bonds. Litlle to no effort. So that was
3 response on the e-mail. Tammy is gone. 3 another one of those things that just came up,
4 Becky Waits, the person that 1 and we just started -- just kind of putting
S we're having to pay extra, that we paid as a 5 information in my head that | didn't know to
6 consultant that you approved to come in and try & hegin with.
7 to improve our court department was going 7 We took the fime to hire a court
8 through the cash hond forfeitures in one day. 8 consultant, and Ms. Waits came in and did a
% She brought a check for $32,000 of money that 9 greaf job for us. The council approved. |
10 we could take out of that cash bond forfeiture 16 think the contract lasted about three or four
11 account and put into our general fund account. 11 months and we made a lot of changes. The very
iz THE WITNESS: Am | explaining that 1z first day -- the very day that Ms. Wails was
i3 right, Gina? 13 supposed to start, Tammy had asked for a
14 Excuse me. I'm sorry. 14 vacation, Granted. No problem. Okay. Here
i5 MR. GAY: Please direct it to me 15 again, I'm looking at it on a department head
16 and -- 16 bhasis. I'm an department head and somebody
17 THE WITNESS: Yeah. I'm sorry. 17 wants to come in here and change my entire
18 MR. GAY: Understand. 1e department, and | don't show up. The entire
i9 THE WITNESS: So that kind of - it 19 week no phone calls, no messages, no visits, no
20 really opened imy eyes even more, and we started 20 nothing. ! think the next week she came back
21 talking about -- when Tammy was still here, we 21 and didn't like a lot of the changes that were
22 started talking about the bond company 22 heing made. Understand. | mean, change is
23 forfeitures that Judge Bright alluded to. Let 23 tough for a lot of people, and | certainly
Page 126 Page 128
1 me explain to you what happened in case she 1 understand that. But that's just another one
2 didn't quite get that because when -- this is 2 of the things that kind of hit me hard when
3 kind of one of those things | guess the straw 3 every department head in this City with the

e
N

that broke the camel's back, exception of the court department, every
When Judge Bright came te me and
talked to me about bond forfeitures, there

again | really wasn't familiar with bond

department head | guarantee if you were going

[=a B ]

to tell them you were going to make major

-l
-~ o w;m

change in their street department, utility

& forfeitures. Explained how it worked. I'm the & department, whatever it may be, they ain't
9 bonding agent. {'m the guy that runs this 9 going to be on vacation that first day.
10 little office on Main Street. Okay. And you 10 They're not going to be gone. If you gota
i1 getin trouble, you give me $1,000 -- yeah, you 11 gcheduled vacation and you got to go out of
iz give me $1,000, I pay your bond. You got to 12 town, that's one thing. That's not what |
13 show up in court; if not, then I'm going to 13 understood in Ms. Pugh's case.
i4 come getyou. Okay. I'm going to find you 14 There are a lot of instances
15 bhegcause I'm going to have to pay $10,000. If] 15 where these driver's licenses are ailowed to
16 don't get my $1,000 -- if you dor't show up to 16 renew, and they should not be. That's been
17 court, | got to pay $10,000. And I'm sorry. 17 going on for years. { won't mention any names,
18 I'm giving a court lesson here. 'm just 18 butl know for a fact that there are. If you
19 trying to let these folks understand what we've 18 don't come to court, that's a major thing and
20 been going through. Now, that bonding company 20 Judge Bright - you know, Judge Pool -- God
21 we haven't gone after them. There is hundreds 21 lave him, Judge Pool, you know, he was, Okay,
22 of thousands of dollars sitting out there that 22 well, you dor't have any money today or
23 these bonding companies have because of the 23 whatever, so, you know, lef's -- okay. See you
Cite, LLC
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have to do. 1 don'iregretit. | don't deny

P

3 nexttime, Okay. A lot of that started

2 changing and it was a tough change. |'m not 2 jit. | don't have any perscnal problem with

3 going to deny that it was tough change on 3 Tammy whatsoever. | just -- the job was not

4 everybody, but everybody was trying to do it. 4 getting done after every opportunity was

5 The one that didn’t really act like she wanted 5 availed to her to get the job down. It's all

6 any part of doing it was the person that was ¢ there, Jeff.

7 the department head. 7 BY MR. COURTNEY:

8 Tammy can sit there and the 8 Q. Did you ever direct Ms. Pugh to altend

9 lawyer can sit there and say all they want o ¢ court?
10 or whatever evaluator or | did this or | only 10 A. Yes. And that's another prime example of,
11 got two things in the personnel file. Let 11 you know, maybe the mayor should he at every
12 Tammy stand up and swear it under oath that | 12 function and everything that every department
13 haven't talked to her that many times. | would 13 does every day or whatever. You know, maybe it
14 jove for that to happen. Most of the time 14 will get to that point.
15 everybody knew | was having a meeting with her 15 Judge Bright brought to my attention that
16 or either | had talked to somecne that was 16 Tammy had quit even coming fo court. Now,
17 regarding that after that meeting with her. 17 you're a depariment head. Okay. You're whole
18 Several of those meetings were employee i 18 thing is court. That's what you're supposed to
1% related. They were from requests for employees 19 do. She didn't even go. | didn't know it.
20 --her employees could | please talk to Tammy 20 Judge Bright told me she didn’t go to court. So
21 gbout her attiude, about her training 21 | called Tammy -- one of the times | ¢called
22 procedures, about everything else. 22 Tammy in my office. One of them. It's notin
23 | have never ever -- it came up 23 her personnel file 1 don't think. | don't

Page 130 Page 132

1 in the instance a few weeks ago when we were in 1 remember if it is or not. | don't remember

2 the other court, whatever it was, about 2 which one is in there and which one is not. But

3 ftraining. Did we offer training, did we do 3 | told her, Tammy, your job is that court,

4 this, did we do that. We have never denied any 4 period. You've got to be there. Okay. So she

5 department head any training of any kind. We 5 would show up, and like Judge Bright said, you

¢ have sent her to Orange Beach | think it was on & know, really wouldn't do a whole bunch. She

7 some lraining. You have got to go out and find 7 didn't think it was her job anymore. Those kind

8 that fraining. it's not the mayor's job to go 8 of things get to a mayor. Those kind of things

9 ouf and find you training that you need to do. % get to any CEO of any business or anything that
10 |t's not the mayor's job -- it's not the police 10 you are a part of whatsoever. Those things get
11 department's job. It's hot the utility 11 to you when that particular person is not making
12 department’s job to go in there and find out 12 that effort to do the things that this
13 that court department program and software that 13 department head and this department head and
14 they use is ancient, but it can be updated if 14 that one are over there frying to make that
15 you'll just think just a little bit -- if 15 valued effort to do and fry to get the things
16 you'l think just a little bit and say, you 16 done that we need to do but you got one slipping
17 know, | think we can make this better. Let me 17 hy the cracks. Yeah, I'd go see utilities in
18 call this guy that wrote this software and let 18 the street and lot of the others a lot more than
19 me get him up here. it's been several years 19 I would go to the court system. | do. | don't
20 we've had that software. We've just done with 20 like the court thing. Don't care for it. Okay.
21 it like we could get by with it. Judge Bright 21 But when it's not run properly and it's brought
22 brought that to some attention, that brought 22 to my attention that's it's not run properly it
23 other things to my attention, and 1 did what { 23 is my job to make sure that is and that's what
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1 we're here for. 1 able to -- you know, things just weren't working
2 Q. When she was promoted to department head, 2 gut. You know, the -- 1 just expect her to do
3 what did you expect out of her? 3 her joh. That's all | ask.
4 A. It's been so long ago. I'm trying to think 4 Q. You mention things that you had discussed
5 was she even -- | do’t remember the personnel 5 with her verbaily and you did mention possibly
6 status. Any time you're a department head -- 6 some things that may have been in the file. I'm
7 and | to try to include department heads in all 7 going to show you what | have got marked as
8 the meetings. You know, we used to have regular 8 Exhibit CM-1 -~ City of Millbrook 1. Is this a
3 department head meetings and we don't do it as 9 memorandum from Irene Swisher?
10 much as we used to. | can get on the phone now 10 A. Yes. Thatis a memorandum that -- | think
11 and just call them and we can handle stuff over 11 irene was the HR director at that particular
12 the telephone. It's not like it used to be. | 12 time -~ had with Angelica. | think that was an
13 expect her to do her job. [ expect--l1gota 13 exist interview that was done -- if this
14 street department that will bring to me or 14 particular one is the exit interview that was
15 utility department that will bring to me a piece 15 done when she left the court department
16 of equipment. A new way to do something. Yeah, 16 employment.
17 it's going fo cost us some money, but this will 17 Q. Okay. And in this memorandum does it
18 improve the way we do it. This will make it 18 discuss Ms. Pugh's attitude or disposition in
19 look better. This will be hetter for everybody 1% handling Ms. Brooks?
20 and we can do four of these instead of one of 20 A. Yeah, it does. Yes, it does.
21 those. Okay. It happens all the time. 1 don't 21 Q. Okay. Andis it a negative handling?
22 ever remember getting asked on any improvements 2z A, Yes.
23 by Tammy especially that she wasn't allowed to 23 Q. Okay. Allright. Fm going to show what
Page 134 Page 136
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=

I've got marked as Exhibit CM-2. Do you
recognize this document?

A. Yes.

Q. Could you describe that for the counail,

do. If she asked me for any improvement
whatsoever, it was done. [t was approved. |

[P -]

expected her to do her job to answer your

£

question.
please?
A. This is one of the written warnings that!

Q. As asupervisor of the other employees in

@ n

her depariment, do you feel that she was able to

L B T &

7 handie her own employee complaints within the gave to Tammy back in 2019 that was -- basically

& department? 8 | felt like | had to do. There again, it's not
9 A. No. The empioyee complaints - even though 9 one of those things that ] typically do as far
10 they would complain to her, they were constantly 10 as writing something up but the things had
11 coming to HR or coming to me personally and 11 gotten so bad in the court department with
12 gomplaining to me. | do my best--idon't 12 Tammy's treatment of people. She wouldn't coach
13 normally have an audience with a street 13 them, train them. She would -- they would
14 department worker that drives a truck or 14 almost have to ask the question how do | do
15 whatever untit he's gone to his supervisor and 15 this, and she said, Well, just learn to do it.
16 he's gone through the proper channels. Okay. 16 Orwhat am | supposed to do with this. Weli,
17 There was some cases in this particular 17 you know, just put that over there and 'l
18 instances where | had to because it couldn’t go 18 handle it later kind of thing.
1% through the proper channels. So | talked to the 19 There again, those training opportenities
20 employees. HR talked to them more than once. 20 are open for those employees just like they are
21 Matter of fact that one that was mentioned that 21 for that department head, and all they got to do
22 was terminated was spending more time at HR than 22 is ask and they can go get trained at any
23 anybody else was and, you know, we just wasn't 23 particular place they want to go as long as it
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Page 137 . . . Page 139
out mistakes and got in front of her -- out in

=

1 gets done.
2 Q. Okay. Date on that was -- front of her other employees. She developed
3 A, 72319,

4 Q. Okay. And let me show you what I've got

W N

cooperation and team work. Would talk about

S

team work but never showed it. Hostile

5 marked as CM-3. Would you describe it for the 5 environment created by Tammy. Listened hut
& council, please? 6 didn't take any of it into account, and it just
7 A. Yes. Thisis -- 7 goes on and on. Very similar to the other one.
8 MR. DEBARDELABEN: Jeff, do you got 8 MR. GAY: Mr. Courtney, can you
2 copies of those? 9 provide us a copy of that document, please,
10 MR. COURTNEY: | do, yeah. [li 10 MR. COURTNEY: Yes, absolutely.
il enter them in just a second. 11 This is actually CM-1 through
12 THE WITNESS: Ami, our HR person, 12 CM-5 that was just described. 1 have a set of
13 said that Tammy had not been attending court. 13 copies for each. Mr. DeBardelaben already has
14 She wasn't getting in all of her hours even and 14 his,
15 everybody else was getting in overtime. She 15 MR. GAY: Thank you.
16 had virlually almost shut down as far as going 16 MR. COURTNEY: |don't think | have
17 to the court sessions or anything. | told her 17 anything further at this point,
18 -~} had Ami to iell her that she needs to 18 EXAMINATION
19 attend court every time, assist with 15 BY MR. DEBARDELABEN:
20 magisirates in other jobs, that's basically 20 Q. Mr. Mayor.
21 what that one is about, 21 A, Yes, sir.
22 BY MR. COURTNEY: 22 Q. t's pretty important to follow rules,
23 Q. Okay. You mentioned exit interviews, 23 isn'tit?
Page 138 Pagae 140
1 Mayor. Would you please describe this exit 1 A. Yes, sir.
2 interview for the council? 2 Q. Why don't you follow them?
3 A. This is from Angelica Brooks from court. 3 A, Well, just like anybody else, like | said,
4 She had brought some information to me and to 4 when you talk to one of your employees, you

w

don't go put it in their file, sir.
Q. But there is a personnel policy.

her supervisor. The -- was she treated fairly

(=2 B 5]
o

and equally and her answer was never. Was she

~1
~1

provided any recognition on the job, sometimes. A. Yes, sir. I'm not going to disagree with

8 She developed coordination and teamwork, never, 8 you, sir.

2 Encouraged and listened to other's suggestions, 9 Q. And it says in a letter on here by you:
10 never. Resolved complaints and problems, never. 10 Dear Employes, | take this opportunity to
11 Followed policies and practices, never. 11 welcome your new employment to Millbrook. 1
12 And that's few of the answers that 12 would like -- | hope you like your new jab,
13 Ms. Brooks had regarding the exit interview that 13 |U's our place to work, and you go on and say
14 she did that after she just cannot be in that 14 these policies present basic information which
15 court department anymore. 15 applies to all employees. Each depariment may
16 Q. Okay. Mayor, I'm going to show you what | 16 have additional rules and regulations.
17 have marked as CM-5. Would you also describe 17 So you're telling them to go by this and
18 that to the council, please. 18 you signed this letter?
19 A, Itis another exit interview done by Sonya 19 A, Right.
20 Jackson onh 6/14 of '21. Let's see, 20 Q. You agree with that, don't you?
21 Demonstrated fair and eqgual treatment, never. 21 A, Yes, sir.
22 Tammy is rude and doesn't know how to supervise. 22 Q. Now, one of the things that says -- and I'm
23 Provided recognition on the job. She brought 23 looking over here -- and | dor'i have but one
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Page 141 Page 143

[ I N e

s IR =2 B #¢

copy, Mr. Mayor. | can come aver there and
stand by you.

On disciplinary aclions it says down here
on informal discussion do you see right here
where it says, The supervisor shall complete a
memo that identified the date, time, substances,
and response to this meeting?

-

warning, and | think the boaok refers to it as
something else, but we'll accept that. And we

[FEI-N

look over here and you tell us you got to get -
basically got fo do certain things. And here is
one -- something about her not attaining court.

[

Is this an employee disciplinary report you
filled out?

8 A, Yes,sir. 8 A. No, sir. Ami did that. | falked to the HR
9 Q. Did you do that when you met with Tammy? 9 director about that one,
10 A, No, sir, 1 did not. 10 Q. Did the employee get it?
11 Q. Soyoudidn'tdo it? 11 A. lassume they did.
12 A, No, sir. 12 Q. Did she sign it?
13 Q. Okay. Step 2, counselling and written 13 A. 1don't know that.
14 reprimands. If within 30 days the action that's 14 Q. Whatdateisit, sir?
15 taken in Step 1 has not resulted in any 15 A. ldon't know.
16 corrective action, the supervisor shall meet 16 Q. Did you date it?
17 with the employee and more formally, A, review 17 A. No, sir, | didn't.
18 the problem, B, penmil the employee fo present 18 Q. So we dom't know when this took place?
19 his and her views of the problem, advise the 19 A. No, sir. That doesn't mean it's wrong.
20 employee that the problem must be corrected 20 Q. Okay. Sir, do you know when it took place?
21 within the next 60 calendar days, and make 21 A. No, sir. Butl can promise you that it
22 gsuggestion and/or give direction for correction. 22 did.
23 To assist the employee, they shall meet on or 23 Q. Did you write notes about it?
Page 142 Page 144
1 about 30 days fram this meeting to informally 1 A. No,sir.
2 discuss progress or lack thereof, and, again, at 2 Q. Sowe don't know what was said there. The
3 the end of 60 days, when the supervisor will 3 procedure wasn't followed, was it?
4 inform the employee that no further action is 4 A. No, sir.
5 needed or a written reprimand will be issued. A 5 Q. Okay. Now, let's look at here on -- that's
6 copy will be forwarded to the director of human 6 March 20th, 2022 -- no, 2020. I'm sorry. After
7 resources and placed in the personnei file. 7 you wrote her up -- lef's sea -- in 2019 -- let
& Did you do that? 8 me get that right. On 7/23/19, how was she
3 A. Good job reading. No, sir, | did not. 9 rated?
10 Q. Youdidn't do it? 10 A. | don't know how she rated. | probably
11 A. No,sir. Good job, though. 11 didn't look it at.
12 Q. Now, let's look at her annual evaluations. 12 Q. Well, it's achieving expectations, isn't
13 How does that work, sir? 13 it?
14 A, She would -- any department head was doing 14 A, Yeah. |lowered expectations for that
15 gelf-evaluations and, most of the time if | 15 department quite a bit.
16 couldn't get to them to fook at them, the HR 16 Q. Did you sign off on it as mayor?
17 director would call me and ask me do 1 approve 17 A. Yes, | did.
18 the raise and | would say yes either via text or 18 Q. Didyousigniton4 -1 can'tiell --
19 whatever and then I [ook at the evaluations 19 something 20207
20 [ater. 20 A. Itlooks like it. | can't see it either.
21 (3. Now, | think you -- and | pointed this out 21 Q. Your writing is worse than mine.
22 -- on 712319 -- I'm going to show you this -- 22 Now, | want to ask you -- you know, you can
23 you gave Ms. Pugh what you call a written 23 ghange items, don't you, because here on 2/17/17
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[

1 her evaluation then you said change Hem 6 from know when in the world this was -- you got an

[A]

(VR S ]

o

geod to average. You did that. You knew you
could change it, didn't you?
A. Uh-huh,

undated one ahout her not attending court. And
3 some personal memo. | don't know who -- on

Y

10/22 something about for the record -- { don't

5 Q. And then you said appearance was excellent 5 know who wrote this. Can you tell me? This is
6 and everything was good. So -- 6 y'all's memo for Tammy.

7 A, In"17 it probably was. 7 A. | don't know unless it's Ami or--{ don't
8 Q. Canyou-- & know if Irene was there or not then,

% A. This is last four or five years that things 9 Q. Soyoudontknow --

10 have gone downhill, sir. 19 A, ldon't know who -- |1 didn't sign it, |

11 Q. Welk, "18 everything is achieving 11 don’t know exactly who wrote it. | don't

e

on 3/2212021 you got it all achieving

12 expectations, isn't it? 12 remember the dates.
13 A, I'm not going to sit here and deny it. You 13 Q. Okay. Now, you recommend the City Council
14 can sit here and run your mouth alt you want to 14 appoint Ms. Pugh as the clerk, didn't you?
15 ahout if. | don't care. 15 A, No, sir. You talking about in --
16 Q. No, sir. I'm doing my case and | would 16 Q. 2001.
17 appreciate you answering the question. 17 A. There's been five of six of them since
18 A, I'm answering them. i8 then,
19 Q. On 3/22/19 it was all achieving 19 Q. Well, you --
20 expectations, wasn't it? 20 A. That one has bheen long gone. Those
21 A. Yes, sir, it was. 21 appointments are done every four years.
22 Q. On 3/20/2020 it was all achieving 22 Q. They're done every four years?
23 expectations? 23 A, Yes, sir.
Page 146 Page 148
1 A. Yes, sir. 1 Q. Well, why aren't they in her personal file?
2 Q. Now, we had to go back and get this one 2 A, They're in the minutes of any meeting. We
3 from the HR director. You didn't sign it, but 3 have an organizational meeting,

4 . Okay. So what you're telling me is that

5 expectations again. Now, whether you signed it 5 the City Councit appoints Ms. Pugh as city
6 or not, we got it from the HR people, and it's 6 clerk?
7 my understanding that HR sends it to you, but 7 A. No.

m

8 she did get a raise that year. Q. They don't?

3 A. Yes, she did. 3 A. No, she's department head. She's not
10 MR. DEBARDELABEN: We woutd do this 10 appointed to anything at this point.
11 composite exhibit as Plaintiffs Exhibit -~ 11 Q. Well, sir, where in this appointment of
12 EM-3. 12 gourt clerk Mayor Kelly asks the council for the
13 MR. GAY: Do you have any more 13 their supportin -
14 questions, sir? 14 A, Thatis in 2001. In the organizational
15 MR. DEBARDELABEN: Justgive me & 15 minutes of the 2001 meeting. Every four years
16 second. 16 the organizational meetings are done again. She
17 BY MR. DEBARDELABEN: 17 has not been appointed since that time | don't
18 Q. Apparently Ms. Swisher wrote this on CM-1 18 think. 1 know notin the last four or five
1% in 2018, but you said -- looking at an annuat 19 elections she has not.
20 report —- she did well. She achieved 20 Q. Wel, what | want to ask you, sir, where on
21 expectations. You have it marked down. 21 here does it say it's for a four-year term?
22 2019 when you got this written warning, the 22 A, Any appointment is by four-year term.
223 next year she achieved expectations. | don't 23 Q. For the court clerk?
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£

A. Right.

Q. Did you realize that the AOC has to approve
her being appointed as court clerk? Are you
aware of that?

A. 1n 2001 | gquess they didn't approve it, so
1 guess she ain't one.

Q. Well, are you aware they have approved i

8 since then?

LA S

Q. Mr. Mayor, are the personnel policies of
this city to be followed by everyone including

you?

A. Yeah.

Q. And if the personnel policies are not
followed, then that -- for one employee, then

they haven't been treated like the other

8 employees, have they?

3 A. No. 9 A. Whatever you say.
10 Q. How often do you come to the court, sir? 10 Q. No, sir. I'mjust asking.
11 A. They don’t--ldon't. 1have been a few i1 A. Yes, sir, that's fair.
12 times. | don't go very often. | promise you. 12 Q. And from my history, it said we gota
13 Q. So how often do you come over in to the 13 resolution 1401, So these personnel policies
14 clerk’s office? 14 were affected February 25th, 2014. Maybe that
15 A. Occasionally. Not very often. 15 explains why [ don't have anything behind 2015,
16 Q. So everything you are basing what -- your 16 This means that the City Council adopted this,
17 opinion on is what people have told you? 17 didn't it?
18 A. And conversations with Tammy. i8 A, Yes, sir.
19 Q. Okay. Andwhen did it start going awry 1% Q. And the City governing body this is their
20 with Tammy, in your opinion? 20 personnel policy --
21 A, We've had problems with personnel in that 21 A, Yes, sir.
22 office for many years not staying because of 22 Q. --thatis to be followed?
23 Tammy. 23 A, Yes, sir.
Fage 150 Page 152
1 Q. Butin alt these - you only -- well, i 1 Q. And you're sitting here today admitting you
2 don't understand, sir, if she's been a problem 2 didn't follow it with Ms. Pugh, aren't you?
3 all these years, the only annual evaluation | 3 A. | gave her above what she should have
4 have found in her file are from 2015 forward, 4 gotten, yes, sir.
5 which that was all we were given when we 5 Q. Well, you didn't write her up like you're
6 requested her file, show that she has exceeded 6 supposed to -
7 or met her expectations. 7 A. No, sir.
8 A, Yes, sir. That's my fault. & Q. --soshe will now?
9 Q. And there's only two written disciplinary 9 A. 1think we have discussed that.
10 actions and after those she -- your evaluation 10 Q. Se you didn't follow what the City said you
11 shows she was good or made expectation; is that 11 have to follow with the employees?
12 correct? 12 A. |think we have discussed that.
13 A. Yes, sir, if that's what it says. 13 . And I think the answer is, no, you didn't
14 Q. If an employee -- should an employee be 14 follow it.
15 able to rely on their annual evaluations? 15 MR. DEBARDELABEN: That's all |
16 A. |don't have an answer for that. 16 have.
17 Q. Well, if -- 17 MR. COURTNEY: Just a few followups,
18 A. |mean,] talked to each employee -- each 18 if{ may.
19 department head by themselves individually. | 19 MR. DEBARDELABEN: Oh. I'm sorry.
20 don't -- like [ said, those evaluations to me -- 2¢  One more thing.
21 my evaluation in person to them is a lot more 21 MR. COURTNEY: Go ahead.
22 yaluable than that evaiuation there until we get 22 MR. DEBARDELABEN: No, that's ckay.
23 in a situation with somebody like this. 23 MR. GAY: Are you done, sir?
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1 MR. DEBARDELABEN: Yes, sir. 1 Q. She's none of these things by ordinance the
2 MR. COURTNEY: Just a few followups. 2 council would even appoint to start with; is
3 REEXAMINATION 3 that correct?
4 BY MR. COURTNEY: 4 A, No, correct.

[

Q. In fact, had the council made an

5 Q. Mayor, Mr. DeBardelaben asked you about
6 appointment, it would have been voided, wasn't

council appointment of Ms. Pugh. I'm looking --

[=a%

7 {'m showing you Exhibit CM-6. Is this the 7 it?
8 minutes from February 5, 20017 8 A. Yes. That's the only ones that are made.
9 A, Yes. 9 MR. COURTNEY: Thisis CM-6 and 7.
10 Q. Ckay. And did you ask the council for 10 Apologize | don't have more copies.
i1 their support -- 11 BY MR. COURTNEY:
12 A, Yes, 12 Q. Mr. DeBardelaben asked you about various
13 Q. --inyour appointment of Ms, Tammy Abney? 13 procedures. I'm going to ask you to take look
14 A, Yes, 1did. 14 with me at Section 8. | think the council
15 Q. Ms. Abney is -~ 15 already has a copy of that. In Section 8 would
16 A. Tammy Pugh. 16 you please read this for the council. 1tis the
17 Q. --is Tammy Pugh. 17 third sentence that begins with in recognition.
18 Were you asking for a vote of confidence? 18 A, Inrecognition of the fact that each
19 A, Yes. Iwas just asking for --1 had made 19 incident differs in some respect. The City has
20 that appointment at that particular time, yes. 20 aright to treat each occurrence individually
21 Q. Okay. I'm going to show you now what I've 21 without setting the precedent for future
22 got marked as CM-7. Is this a City of Millbrook 22 actions.
23 municipal ordinance? 23 Q. Okay. In the same paragraph, okay, would
Page 154 Page 156
1 A, Yes. 1 you please read the last sentence.
2 Q. Okay. Alright. And does it list under 2 A, Any action will depend on the seriousness
3 administrative positions appoeinted by the 3 of the incident and the entire pattern of the
4 following authorities, does it list those that 4 employee's past performance and conduct and the
5 are appointed by the City Council? 5 totality of the circumstances surrounding any
6 A. Yes. 6 incident or incidents.
7 Q. Okay. Allright. What's the first one? 7 Q. Okay. Interminating Ms. Pugh, did you
8 A. City clerk. 8 weigh here entire pattern of her past
% Q. [s Ms. Pugh the city clerk? 9 performance and conduct?
10 A, No. 10 A. Yes, | did.
11 Q. What's number two? 11 Q. Did you weigh the totality of the
12 A, Municipal judge. 12 gircumstances surrounding the incident or
13 Q. She's not that either? 13 incidents?
i1 A. No. 14 A, Yes, | did.
15 Q. Okay. Number three? 15 Q. Okay. And did you feel immediate
16 A, City attorney, no. 16 termination at that point was necessary?
17 Q. And number four? 17 A. Yes.
18 A, Superintendent of utilities, no. And next 18 Q. And, in fact, under Section 9, the second
19 one, treasurer, no. 19 sentence it actually begins with -- would you
20 Q. Okay. Fire chief? 20 read that, please?
21 A. Fire chief, no. 21 A. Unless immediate termination is called for.
22 Q. Treasurer? 22 Q. Okay. And then it reads the usual?
23 A. No. 23 A. The usual disciplinary progression
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Page 157 . Page 159
making the appointment, where applicable, and a

.

includes.

Q. And then it goes on quite some way. Did copy should be forwarded to ADC. For each

W
wN

you feel immediate termination was called for person appointed by the ADC, a copy of the

S
ey

you when you made the immediate termination? letter appointment shall be on file with AOC or

5 A, Yes. 5 in the office of district court clerk in the

6 Q. Soyou've complied? 6 district wherein the person is serving or, for

T A, Yes, 7 municipal court magistrates, in the office of

8 MR. GAY: Can we have a copy of 8 municipal court clerk in the municipality

¢ that, please? 9 wherein the magistrate is servicing.
16 MR. COURTNEY: You may have mine. 10 So you know AOC has to approve if, don't
11 jtis Chapter 6 progressive discipline, due 11 you?
12 process. [ think you already have a copy of 12 A. No.
13 the handbook. |just ask the tribunat -- or 13 Q. You don't think they do?
14 excuse me. I'm sorry. I'd ask the council, i1 A, No.
15 please, just to take what we -- usually would 15 Q. Okay.
16 call judicial notice -- councit notice. 16 A, |don't know if they do or not. | mean,
17 MR. GAY: That's on page 6-3. 17 you're reading some law to me | don't know
18 MR. COURTNEY: Yes. I'm sorry. 18 about.
19 BY MR. COURTNEY: 1% Q. Yes, sir.
20 Q. You've never had to ask AOG whether or not 20 A, Okay.
21 you could hire anybody? 2% Q, That's in Rule 18 of the Alabama rule of
22 A. No, | have nof. 22 the Judicial Procedure, 1l -- Roman numeral
23 Q. Infact, if you asked them, they wouldn't 23 ik

Page 158 Page 160

1 give you any response, would they? 1 MR. DEBARDELABEN: That's all |

2 A. They would not. 2 have.

3 Q. And that's because they don't have the 3 MR. GAY: Is there rebut?

4 authority to hire anybody for you? 4 MR. COURTNEY: Very brief.

5 A. Thatis correct. 5 FURTHER EXAMINATION

6 MR. COURTNEY: | don’t have anything 6 BY MR. COURTNEY:

7 further. 7 Q. AllACC does is provide training,

8 MR. GAY: Counselor, do you any a & ceriification, and yearly maintenance training?

9 rebut? 2 A. Yes. And they offer training to court
10 MR. DEBARDELABEN: Just one second. 10 cierks, to court personnel, and different areas
11 REEXAMINATION 11 also, buf they're mostly a support group.
12 BY MR. DEBARDELABEN: 12 Q. Infact, if they don't go to the
i3 Q. Now, to be chief court clerk or chief 13 certification, they can't fire your magistrate
14 clerk, Ms. Pugh had to be a magistrate, didn't 14 aven if they miss the certification, can they?
15 she? 15 A. No.
16 A, Yes, sir, 16 Q. Qkay.
17 Q. Are you aware that rule -- Rules of 17 A. I'm not sure. | would say no but --
18 Judicial Administration, Rule 18-3 -- Section 3 18 MR. COURTNEY: Well, I'd represent
19 | think that's the way you read it | think it 12 to the council that's exactly what Eric Locke
20 would be -- D(3) said, Each appointment made 20 with AOC would say. Even if she missed her
21 pursuant to this rule or after August 1, 1987, 2% certification they couldn't fire her because
22 ghall be in writing. A copy of appointment 22 they have absolutely no authority to hire or
23 shall be filed in the office district clerk 23 fire any employee of the City of Millbrook.
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1 City of Millbrook sends who they want. They 13 MR. GAY: There's no reason to be
2 rubber stamp it. They certify. That's it. 2 argumentive. You've read the --
3 MR. DEBARDELABEN: f Mr. Courtney 3 THE WITNESS: You've read it. If
4 is going to testify — if y'all don’t want to 4 jt's in there, there's no sense for it to be
5 strike it, | would like to cross-examine. 5 read.
6 MR. GAY: This is a public hearing. 6 MR. DEBARDELABEN: | will ask for
7 You have every right to repute. 7 the counci to take judicial notice of the
8 Are you through, sir? 8 Rules of Administrative -- Rules of Judicial
9 MR. COURTNEY: | am. 9 Administration and what it says and requires.
10 MR. GAY: Who are you rebutting, 16 MR. GAY: Do you have copy to
11 sir, {o the mayor? 11 provide to us?
12 MR. DEBARDELABEN: 1 want the mayor 12 MR. DEBARDELABEN: No, sir. |can
13 because the lawyers can't testify. i3 getit. They're in the rules. If you've got a
14 MR. GAY: | understand. [ justwant 14 book, | can make a copy. Usually we don't have
15 to make sure you know who you are talking to. 15 to make copies of these things.
16 FURTHER EXAMINATION 16 MR. GAY: You're asking for us to
17 BY MR. DEBARDELABEN: 17 look at it, so | hope you have a copy for us to
18 Q. Mr. Mayor, you realize that AOC describes 18 review.
19 the duties of the court clerk, don't you - the 1s MR. DEBARDELABEN: If you got a copy
20 clerk of the court? Do you realize they 20 machine.
21 describe all of the duties and what they should 21 MR. GAY: We might be able to help
22 do? 22 you with that.
23 A. lwould think so, yes. 23 MR. DEBARDELABEN: And that's it.
Page 162 Page 164
1 Q. And you realize that AOC says the clerk 1 MR. GAY: Do you have a rebut, sir?
2 shall be the chief administrator officer of the 2 MR. COURTNEY: One quick rebut.
3 municipal court administrative division and 3 FURTHER EXAMINATION
4 shall answer to the municipal judge, or if the 4 BY MR. COURTNEY:
5 court has more than one judge, to the presiding 5 Q. What he just read to you said answers. It
6 judge. So she would answer by rules to Judge 6 doesn't say supervise, does it?
7 Bright, not to you, wouldn't she? T A. No, sir.
g8 A, She was a department head. She would 8 0. You may answer to more than one person,
9 answer to me. 9 correct?
10 Q. So your department head rules -- and of the 10 A. Yes.
11 ppinion overrules the rules of Judicial 11 MR. COURTNEY: Council, | do have --
12 Administration by the Alabama Supreme Court? 12 don't know if you have anything after that.
13 A. No, sir. 13 ]do have cne rebuttal witness.
4 Q. And if they say she reports fo -- answers 14 MR. GAY: Okay. Are you done with
15 to the municipal judge, then she should answer 15 the mayor?
16 to the municipal judge, shouldn’t she? 16 MR. COURTNEY: {am. I'm done with
17 A. [think that's in doubt in question, | i7 the mayor. Thank you, Mayor.
i3 don't want -- i8 MR. GAY: Mayor, you're excused.
19 Q. ' ask you io read i, sir. 19 MR. COURTNEY: | would like to
20 A. 1'm not going to read it. 20 recall Judge Lynn Bright.
21 Q. You're not going to read it? 21 Thank you, Your Honor.
22 A. No, sir. 1refuse to read it. 22 FURTHER EXAMINATION
23 . You refuse to read what the - 23 BY MR. COURTNEY:
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[

[ VLR ]

Q. Judge Bright, you heard our discussion
regarding magistrates and AOC, Would you please
provide some information to the council on this

very subject?

A. lwill. The Alabama Rules of Judicial
Administration with regard o the issue of her
being supervised directly by the municipal
judge, it does -- Rule 4 of the Alabama Rules of
Judicial Administration say that she is to

ot

FURTHER EXAMINATION
BY MR. DEBARDELABEN:
Q. Your Henor, you do agree that the wording
is that the clerk answers to the municipal
judge?
A. Right. And 1 believe that wouid be in
regard to any court matters, not personnel
matters.
Q. Yes, ma'am. Buithere's no definitive

10 answer to the judge. That has always been 10 answer on there from the court?
11 excepted, as | understand it, and | helieve as 11 A. Well, you have to remember,
12 most judges understand i, that it is simply a 12 Mr. DeBardelaben, what the Rules of Judiciai
13 matter of direction. [t has nothing do with the 13 Administration are. They are to provide smooth
14 personngl matters. 1 don't hire and fire. | 14 procedures and understanding. It's different
15 simply say we're going to do court on this day, 15 and separate from the code of Alabama although
16 this is how we're going to do court, and it's 16 it is adopted. It is -- | think the intent is
17 general direction. 17 pretty clear there that it has to do with court
18 With regards to the magistrate, the 18 matters in a municipal court. 1 am not her
19 Administrative Office of Court does approve any 19 hoss. | am simply the one who directs and
20 magistrate that is recommended by the judge or 20 supervises her with regard to court. Her days
21 clerk of the court if it's not -- for example, 21 off, her vacations, any disciplinary matters,
22 as the clerk of the court, Tammy would send 22 they're not mine. They're the -- through her
23 names to the Administrative Office of Courts 23 personnel -- through the mayor.
Page 166 Page 168
1 that have been sworn in by the judge for 1 Q. That's -- and respectfully, Your Honor,
2 approval as a magistrate. They do have to 2 that's your view, but the Court has not
3 approve them. There's certain requirements they 3 addressed it yet, have they, to your knowledge?
4 have to meet like, you know, not having any 4 A, 1wouldn't know if there's ever been a case
5 criminal history unless not being unable to 5 on the issue.
6 serve. But the magistrates -- there's actually 6 Q. Right.
7 a magistrate agency for municipal judges and a 1 A. Butlwould imagine it's intended to make
8 magistrate agency for district court judges. & the job easy for the municipal judge to have
9 It's just simply the way that it is set up in 3 someone that he or she can direct about court
10 the codes and in the Rules of Judicial 10 matters.
11 Administration. And as aclerk -~youcanbea 11 Q. And hiring and firing?
12 clerk without being a magistrate but generally 12 A, 1don't hire and | don't fire.
13 most courts have their chief clerk as the 13 MR. DEBARDELABEN: Thank you, Your
14 magistrate and every employee in that office as 14 Honor.
15 a magistrate giving them magistrate duties, and 15 MR. GAY: Are you through?
16 they're just simply approved by the 16 MR. DEBARDELABEN: I'm through.
17 administrative director of courts, There is a 17 MR. GAY: Did you have any further
18 form that is sent over, an oath of office sent 18 questions?
19 over, and they approve it. | wouldn't say 19 MR. COURTNEY: [ have no further
20 exactly rubber stamping it, but pretty close to 20 questions and | have no further witnesses at
21 jt, and then they are a magistrate. 21 this time.
22 MR. COURTNEY: Very good. Thank 22 MR, GAY: Sir, do you have any
23 you. 23 witnesses?
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1 MR. DEBARDELABEN: Can you give me 1 we're not going to do it. They're not going to
2 about five minutes? | might can cut. 2 have to follow this policy and then you're
3 MR. GAY: Yes. lligranta 3 telling them your annual evaluations aren't
4 five-minute recess. 4 worth the paper they're written on. If you get
5 {Short break.) 5 an annual evaluation, | want y'all to look at
6 MR. DEBARDELABEN: | have no 6 them. Those excellent and good in -- there's
7 witnesses to call. We rest. 7 twe averages in "6, and then in '17 he changed
8 MR. GAY: Allright. At this time, B & good to an average but he's got excellent on
9 closing statements. The City goes first. 9 there, and the lowest she got is good and she's
10 MR. COURTNEY: Thank you, sir. A 10 achieving expectation and you signed them.
11 brief closing statement reaily on that. You 11 You're going to tell the employees those
12 have heard the testimony from three very 1z evaluations are trash. They don't mean a
13 important and informative withesses. You heard 13 thing. That's what you're telling this lady
14 from the judge, you heard from the police 14 your evaluation that we gave you are trash.
15 chief, and you heard from the mayor of course. 15 You can't depend on it. They're false. We
16 Certainly feel that the testimony conclusively 15 don't have to follow -- this rule book it's so
17 established that Mayor Kelly was right, that 17 much fluff. We don't believe in the rutes of
18 the termination was correct. Certainly asking 18 law in this city. We aren't going to protect
19 you to uphold his decision. 19 the employees. The rules are their to protect
20 One point | would like to make 20 the employees, to get you good employees.
21 during closing, though, Mr. DeBardelaben had 21 Millbrook is & good city. And it's hard --
22 mentioned something regarding some ambush early 22 it's hard for the employees -- it would be for
22 on. would just state that in that March 1, 23 me -- to respect when I'm given the rules and 1
Page 170 Page 172
1 2022, letter it does state that she had 1 find out, oh, they don't have to follow them.
2 difficulty communicating with other 2 And ] get annual evaluations that don't mean
3 departments, so | don't feel like that was any 3 anything if they change their mind. And | have
4 sort of an ambush at all. But, again, you 4 it where we're going to have progressive
5 heard -- you heard the evidence, you heard the 5 discipline. Nobody said Ms. Pugh wasn't doing
6 testimony. We feel that it's certainly 6 her job. They didn't say that. She has an
7 conclusively affirms that Mayor Kelly made the 7 aftitude problem. You know, she's been working
& right decision when he made an immediate 8 here -- she's given 20-somthing years. | think
9 termination. 9 she started in '98. 22 - that would be the
10 MR. GAY: Are you through, sir? 10 23 years, a little over, for this cily, and she
11 MR, COURTNLY: | am through. 11 worked hard. She did a good job. We come in,
12 MR. DEBARDELABEN: Respectfully, 12 there's changes, but we're not going to follow
13 this case is not all about Ms. Pugh. I's 13 the rules, peaple. She's got to be swept out,
14 about this councii's rules. You have rules and 14 Judge said she was trying. She tried. You
15 you fell the employees to follow them. Ifwe 15 Kknow, it's hard when you been doing something
i6 have a problem with you, we have a disciplinary 16 one way to change it. It's hard. You got
17 procedure we're going io follow. They admit 17 somebody that wanis you to do it that way,
18 they didn't follow it. They admit they didn't 18 that's the way you do. Somebody else comes in,
19 follow it. What you're going to tell -- if you t9 jt's -- we throw all you've learned out.
20 uphold this termination, are you going to tell 20 What we did learn tonight the
21 the employees of this City two very strong 21 court system needs some improvement. Yeah. It
22 things. Number one, we're not gaing to hold 22 had been kind of stuck in a time warp, and it's
23 anybody's feet to the fire. The fire is -- 23 hard to get unsiuck from that time warp. But
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you don't fire the lady. All that we've had
changes. Well, had a lot of turnover. I've
been - and | don't have these statistics. You
look at every department in the city, that have
a lot of turnover. Every department would.

It's the nature of the beast. But this lady

they haven't presented -- you know, they get up
there and | say ambush. They put stuff in by
police chief talking about stuff that happened

attitude problems, address it, and then if she

doesn't improve, and you go through the steps

that's when you get rid of her. Not just

coming from a shot out of the dark, bring her

in, and then, boom, there's no write-up and no

nothing, boom, you are gone. She has a

constitutional property right in her job that's

supposed to be backed up with these rules here.
Thank you very much.

10 ten years ago, five years ago. But the mayor 10 MR. GAY: Rebut?
11 said, oh, you can't believe those evaluations. 11 MR. COURTNEY: Very brief. Thank
12 Believe this. | didn't follow and write up 12 you.
13 when | counseled with her. | didn't do that. 13 It was very clear that she was
14 | didn't tell her she had to improve. And 14 given every oppaortunity to improve. A lot of
15 after | did write her up in 2019, | said she 15 discussion about the performance evaluations.
16 was doing good the very next year. In 2021 we 16 She knows all of these counselling sessions and
17 got-- we got it from the -- [ don't know why 17 all of the discussions whether it be from the
18 the mayor didn't sign it. We got it from human 18 mayor or the judge, the police chief, whomever.
19 resources, and it shows she's doing good. But 19 She knows that didn't match her employment
20 all of a sudden they want to fire her without a 20 evaluations. And the mayor told you very
21 single day of suspension, without a write-up 21 candidly why he didn't want to hurt her
22 saying if you don't improve here, we're going 22 financially. That was his answer. But
23 to have to take drastic action. You got to 23 nevertheless she knew that they didn't
Page 174 Page 176
1 treat people hetter than that. You gotfo 1 coincide. Again, she was given every
2 follow your rules. You got -- you should -- 2 gpportunity to improve and didn't do it, so the
3 this is important. Atleast | thought it was 3 mayor did what he had to do and immediately
4 important, and | hope you think it's important. 4 terminated her. And as far as following the
5 These annual evaluations they're important. 5 rules, the mayor clearly did follow the rules
6 That tells somebody how they're doing. You & regarding an immediate terminations.
7 know, | don't know if the mayor could write the 7 Thank you very much.
8 chief up or not. | would hope not. But if 8 MR. GAY: Allright. This closes
9 you're going to come in and say, oh, | could 9 the post-disciplinary hearing. At this time,
10 have written her up several times. You have 10 are there any motions?
11 got a duty to the peopte of this city to do 11 MR. HODGE: Council President, |
12 your job, to tell you aren't pulling your 12 move for the council to go into executive
13 weight. You don't come in all of a sudden 13 session for the purpose of deliberating and
14 after people has been here all of these year 14 discussing evidence and/or testimony present
15 and you got all this money fraining them and 15 during the post-disciplinary hearing.
16 they're waiting on retirement and they get to 16 MR. GAY: We have a motion. Is
17 that age and you, oh, none of this stuff we 17 there a second?
18 gave you said that you were doing good is worth is MR. HARRIS: Second.
19 anything and our rules are not worth anything. 18 MR. GAY: Clerk, please call the
20 That's what this case is about. 20 role.
21 And it's hard to say Mr. Mayor, 21 THE CLERK: Council members Harris?
22 you're wrong; Judge, you're wrong. You need to 22 MR. HARRIS: Yes.
23 pul the lady back, let her work, and she has 23 THE CLERK: Thomas?
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1 MS. THOMAS: Yes. 1 for disposition.
z THE CLERK: Jones? 2 Anything else that we need to at
3 MR. JONES: Yes. 3 this time?
1 THE CLERK: Hedge? 4 MR. HARRIS: | make the motion that
5 MR. HODGE: Yes. 5 we adjourn.
€ THE CLERK: Gay? 6 MR. JONES: | second.
7 MR. GAY: Yes. 7 MR. GAY: A motion and second. All
g Let the record show we are going 8 in favor say aye.
9 Into executive session at 8:10 and we will come 9 (All in favor so indicated.)
10 out of executive session here afterwards. | do 10 MR. GAY: All opposed?
11 not know for sure how long it wilt take, at 11 (No response)
12 least 30 minutes or maybe more. IfitIs going 12 MR. GAY: We are adjourned.
13 to be longer than 30 minutes, we will [et the 13 {The hearing concluded at 8:52
14 people in know. Let's go back in executive 14 p.m.)
15 sesslons. 15
16 {Coundil members enter executive 16
17 session.) 17
18 MR. GAY: Please let the record show 18
19 that we returned from executive session at 8:51 19
20 and call the meeting back to order. 20
21 Is there a motion? 21
22 MR. HODGE: I make a motion to 22
23 uphold the termination that Mayor Kelly 23
Page 178 Page 180
1 criginally had. 1 REPORTER'S CERTIFICATE
2 MR. GAY: There is a motion. Is 2 STATE OF ALABAMA
MONTGOMERY COUNTY
3 there a second? 3
4 MR. HARRIS: Second. 4 |, Haley Tunnell, Court Reporter,
5 MR. GAY: | have a motion and a 5 Gommissloner for the State of Alabama at Large,
6 second to affirm the mayor's termination. & hereby certify that on March 16, 2022, |
7 If the clerk will please call the 7 reported the testimony and proceedings in the
8 role. 8 foregoing cause and that pages 4 through 179
9 THE CLERK: Council members Thomas? ¢ conlain a true and accurate transcription of the
10 MS. THOMAS: No. 10 proceedings set out herein,
11 THE CLERK: Harris? 11 further certify that | am neither kin nor
12 MR. HARRIS: Yes, 12z counsel to any of the parties to said cause, nor
13 THE CLERK: Jones? 13 in any manner interested in the resuils thereof.
14 MR. JONES: Yes. 14 M
15 THE CLLERK: Hodge? 15 {s/Haley Tunnell
HALEYVTUNNELL Court Reporter
16 MR. HODGE: Yes. 16 Commissioner for the
17 THE CLERK: Gay? 17 RES LAl hama Al args
MY COMMISS é)N EXPIRES: 02/25/23
18 MR. GAY: Yes. 18
19 By a vote of four to one it is 19
20 yes to affirm the mayor's decislon on the 20
21 termination. There will be a wrilten declsion 21
22 within five business days of the conclusion of 22
23 the hearing and will transmil to Mayor Kelly 23
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